
Date Published:25 August 2017     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Wednesday 6 September 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Laura Powick

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2017.

Laura Powick

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any pecuniary or personal interests by members.

Laura Powick

4  GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
(Pages 9 - 16)

To consider the request that an update report on the activities of the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (GEGSC) be 
presented as a standing item at the meetings of the Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Joint Committee.

This was requested by the GEGSC at its meeting on 21 June 2017. 
The minutes from the meeting are attached for information. 

Cllr David 
Norman MBE

5  GFIRST LEP UPDATE (Pages 17 - 34)

To receive a report on the delivery of the Growth Programme in the 
County, including ESIF update and Growth Deal Fund reallocation 
process.

Mally Findlater



    

6  ECONOMIC INTELLIGENCE (Pages 35 - 46)

i) CCN Commission: Understanding County Economies – To 
receive a summary of the recent Oxford Economics report on 
County Economies and its relevance to Gloucestershire;

ii) To consider a proposal to improve co-ordination of the 
collation and utilisation of economic intelligence across the 
County.

Claire Edwards

7  BUSINESS RATE POOL 

To receive an update report on the Business Rate Pool and 
expenditure options for the Strategic Economic Development Fund 
– REPORT TO FOLLOW.

Nigel Riglar, 
David Stanley

8  STRATEGIC PLANNING COLLABORATION IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
(Pages 47 - 58)

To receive an update on proposals including governance and the 
Strategic Planning Commissioner role. 

Mike Dawson

9  GLOUCESTERSHIRE INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT PLAN (Pages 
59 - 62)

To receive an update report and demonstration on the mapping 
project.

Nigel Riglar, 
Jonathan Medlin

10  FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES - DCLG/ HCA HOUSING 
INFRASTRUCTURE FUND AND HE GROWTH AND HOUSING FUND 
(Pages 63 - 68)

To update on plans for Gloucestershire submissions. 

Nigel Riglar

11  FORWARD PLAN - FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 69 - 72)

To consider proposed areas of focus and discussion topics for 
future meetings of the Committee.

Mike Dawson

12  FUTURE MEETING DATES 

To note that the Committee is due to meet on the following dates in 
2017 and 2018:

Wednesday 29 November 2017
Wednesday 14 March 2018
Wednesday 20 June 2018
Wednesday 5 September 2018
Wednesday 21 November 2018

Laura Powick



    

All meetings to start at 10am (this allows meetings of the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee to take place 
on the same day).

Membership –  Cllr Lynden Stowe Cllr Dave Waters, Cllr Tim Gwilliam, Cllr Paul James, Cllr Steve 
Jordan, Cllr Christopher Hancock and Cllr Steve Lydon
Mally Findlater and Dev Chakraborty

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Members are required to sign the attendance list.

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 1 - 

 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH  
JOINT COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee held at 
Shire Hall, Gloucester on Wednesday 21 June 2017. 

 
Present:  Cllr Paul James 

Cllr Steve Jordan 
Cllr Patrick Molyneux 
 

Cllr Christopher Hancock 
Cllr Steve Lydon 
Cllr Lynden Stowe (Chairman) 
 
 

Presenting 
Officers:  

Mally Findlater (GFirst LEP) 
Nigel Riglar (Gloucestershire County Council  
David Stanley (Stroud District Council) 
Pete Carr (Lead Commissioner: Skills and Employment) 
 

 
78. APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies were received from Cllr Dave Waters (Tewkesbury Borough Council).   
 

79. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  
 
Cllr Lynden Stowe was elected as Chairman of the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Committee for the 2017/18 Civic Year.  
 

80. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN  
 
Cllr Steve Jordan was elected as Vice-Chairman of the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Committee for the 2017/18 Civic Year.  
 

81. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were received.   
 

82. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 2017 were agreed and signed as a 
true record of the meeting.  
 

83. ECONOMIC GROWTH AGENDA  
 
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, (GCC), gave 
an update on current issues, including a review of the growth agenda for 
Gloucestershire.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 2 - 
 

Members considered information on the Growth Policy for Gloucestershire; 
received an update on the proposed mechanisms for delivering growth for the 
county; and discussed the potential for local growth opportunities.  
 
Included in the update was a summary of external influences that may have had an 
impact on economic growth in Gloucestershire. These included; the formal 
triggering of the Brexit process; the recent development of the government’s 
industrial strategy, (a government green paper published earlier in the year), and 
the government’s approach to devolution. Members also considered the range of 
government policies that could have a direct influence on Gloucestershire’s growth 
ambitions for the future.  
 
The Commissioning Director drew member’s attention to the findings of the recent 
Inclusive Growth Commission, and the recommendation for local authorities to 
progress ‘Place-based Industrial Strategies’ as part of their economic strategy. 
 
Advice from government had been to ‘deliver business-led productivity and quality 
jobs through lifelong learning and linking industry sectors and places, and through 
the creation of new institutions to connect business and industry’.  
 
Expanding on the proposal, the Prime Minister had announced the government’s 
intention to deliver an Industrial Strategy that identified ‘industries of strategic value 
to the economy’ that could be promoted ‘through policies on trade, tax, 
infrastructure, skills, training, research and development’. In noting the 
announcement, members acknowledged the emphasis being placed on the 
increasing role of Local Enterprise Partnerships, (LEP’s), and on the importance 
being attributed to investing in the local infrastructure to promote economic growth.   
 
Conscious of the impact the Queen’s Speech, (to be delivered that day), might have 
on district local plans, members questioned how the mix of proposals and the 
various growth plans across the county might ‘best fit’ to produce an overall 
strategy for Gloucestershire. To aid member’s understanding of local issues and 
priorities, the committee suggested a more in-depth discussion be held to consider 
the progress and development of district local plans. Action by Lead Officers 
 
In noting the request, it was agreed officers would: i) identify key local issues for 
consideration at future meetings, ii) develop a programme of issues reflecting the 
progress of district local plans. It was also suggested, the LEP host an annual event 
to update local authorities on growth issues. Action by GFirst LEP.   
 
Specific areas of interest highlighted at the meeting included; i) housing shortages; 
ii) activities undertaken locally to progress the government’s response to Brexit; iii) 
data collection and use of data; and iv) local productivity levels.  
 
The update was noted.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 3 - 
 

84. GFIRST LEP UPDATE  
 
Mally Findlater, (Programme Manager for GFirst LEP), gave an update on the 
status of the projects involved in the Gloucestershire Growth Deal Funding 
Programme.  
 
Included in the update was an explanation of the process for the re-allocation of 
Growth Deal Funding. The Programme Manager explained that, at the mid-way 
point of delivery of Growth Deal Projects, the LEP, (and Gloucestershire County 
Council as the accountable body), had embarked on a process of ‘re-allocation’, 
taking into account those projects which had either been withdrawn or where 
projects had not used the full amount of indicative funding.  
 
Outlining the process for identifying potential projects for consideration during 
Round 4 of the Growth Deal Programme, the Programme Manager confirmed that 
those projects which had not been successful during Growth Deal (Round 3), would 
automatically be invited to re-submit their original bids.  
 
The named projects included: Cirencester Enterprise Quarter; Gloucester Railway 
Station; Cinderford Regeneration Project; Eco Park and Sports Stadium; 
Gloucestershire Airport Expansion; Littlecombe Housing; Centre of Excellence for 
Food and Drink and Brimscombe Housing. It was noted that, in re-submitting their 
original bids, the organisations would only be allowed to revise the original 
submissions, and not include additional proposals.  
 
Outlining the timeline for GFirst LEP Board and Joint Committee to consider 
submitting bids for projects not included in the Growth Deal 3 submission but 
considered as potential projects under ‘exceptional circumstances’, the Programme 
Manger explained that, projects developed since the last pipeline process may be 
considered as ‘exceptional’, provided the submission ‘had the potential to deliver or 
accelerate outstanding growth for the county’. The deadline for submissions was 10 
August 2017. An update on the status and progress of submissions would be 
presented to the Joint Committee meeting on 6 September 2017. Action by – 
GFirst LEP 
 
Responding to questions, the Programme Manager noted the Committee’s request 
for information on the following issues and agreed to provide updates at future 
meetings: -  
 

a) GFirst LEP Board (structure/membership)  
b) Productivity Levels – a presentation to the LEP Board in October to be 

presented to the Joint Committee  
c) European Funding Programme Update  
d) Strategic Economic Plan Update  
e) Great South West Project Update - GFirst LEP Positioning 

 
The report was noted.    
 
 
 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 4 - 
 

85. BUSINESS RATE POOL  
 
David Stanley, (Accountancy Manager and Section 151 Officer at Stroud District 
Council), gave an update on the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool 2016/17, 
including an initial forecast for 2017/18.  
 
Business Rates Pooling 
 
In January 2016, following completion of the government returns and the setting of 
the business rates for 2016/17, initial forecasts estimated an additional £2.5m 
income would be retained in Gloucestershire as a result of business pooling.  
 
Members recalled that the Joint Committee had received updates, indicating 
retentions of £1.9m in September 2016 and £2.3m in December 2016. The outturn 
position for 2016/17, (at the mid-point of these two forecasts), had been £2.1m 
retained income. This was considered a good position, with 20% of the surplus for 
Gloucestershire, (a contribution of 241k), set aside for the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund (SEDF).   
 
It was reported that the initial forecast for the 2017/18 financial year, (forecast at an 
estimated £4.02m retained income for Gloucestershire), might have been a little 
optimistic and would be reviewed later in the year. It was anticipated that the 
estimation would reduce, with an update to the Joint Committee at the November 
meeting. Action by – David Stanley 
 
100% Business Rates Retention 
 
Members received an update on the 100% Business Rates Retention and noted 
that, in response to the initial consultation, the government had issued a further 
consultation on the design of the reformed business rates system. The consultation 
ended on 3 May 2017.  
 
Prior to the general election, the government had indicated, (subject to 
parliamentary approval), that the intention would be to introduce the new system 
during the 2019/20 financial year. It was reported that this may now be subject to 
change and was likely to take some time to initiate, possibly up to 18 months.  
 
100% Business Rates Pilots  
 
At the committee meeting in March, members had been advised that the 
government would be inviting 2-tier authorities to make an application to become a 
Business Rates Pilot area for the roll out of the 100% Business Rates Retention 
initiative.  
 
Members were informed Gloucestershire CFO’s (Chief Financial Officers) had 
written to central government offering to host a 2-tier pilot. An update to be 
presented to the Committee later in the year. Action by – David Stanley  
 
David Hagg from Stroud District Council advised the committee that a ‘relief fund’ 
would be made available to local authorities and stressed the importance of making 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 5 - 
 

maximum use of this opportunity. Subject to publication of government guidelines, 
David Hagg agreed to circulate information on how to respond to the initiative, by 
email.  Action by – David Hagg  
 
LEP Core Funding Position  
Updating members on the report to the committee at the March meeting, it was 
confirmed several meetings had been held to consider LEP Core Funding 
proposals, including discussions held between the 7 Gloucestershire Councils and 
GFirst LEP. The emerging consensus from the meetings provided the following 
outcomes: -  
 

a) There is a need for the locality to continue to match the Government core 
funding and the funding should be diversified;  
 

b) The Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF) of the Business Rate 
Pool provides the best route of achieving this, with sufficient funds available;  
 

c) The locality fund to be agreed by the Joint Committee, on an annual basis;  
 

d)  A review of the need for on-going Core Funding during 2019/20 to coincide 
with the end of the Growth Deal period in 2021.  
 

A number of key considerations continue for discussion, including the position of 
Tewkesbury Borough Council, who are currently not included in the Business Rate 
Pool.  
 
 A meeting of the 7 Councils and GFirst LEP will be held in July, the outcomes of 
which will be reported to this committee for a response. It was agreed a clear 
direction was needed from the Joint Committee before a decision could be made.  
 
A detailed proposition to be presented to the Joint Committee at the next meeting. 
Action by – David Stanley  
 

86. GOVERNMENT INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY  
 
The responses to the Government’s Industrial Strategy consultation were noted.  
 
The responses can be accessed at the following links: 
 
GEGJC Response: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36260/Industrial%20Strategy%20
ConsultationDraftJC%20March2017.pdf 
 
GFirst LEP Response: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36127/Industrial%20Strategy%20
Response%20v2.pdf 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36260/Industrial%20Strategy%20ConsultationDraftJC%20March2017.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36260/Industrial%20Strategy%20ConsultationDraftJC%20March2017.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36127/Industrial%20Strategy%20Response%20v2.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36127/Industrial%20Strategy%20Response%20v2.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 6 - 
 

87. EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS  
 
The committee considered a report from Pete Carr: Lead Commissioner: Skills and 
Employment, on the establishment of the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills 
Board and the progress of the Gloucestershire ESF (European Social Fund) Skills 
and Employability Projects.  
 
In reporting the membership of the Employment and Skills Board, it was confirmed 
Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Economy, Skills and Growth, would 
represent Gloucestershire County Council. Work was ongoing to appoint the 
remaining 4 representatives of the 16 member board, including the appointment of 
a Chairman. 
 
At the meeting, the Joint Committee appointed Cllr Steve Lydon, (Stroud District 
Council), as the District Council representative.  
 
The committee noted the report and welcomed the suggestion that the Lead 
Commissioner present a more detailed update at a future meeting.  
 
Action by – Pete Carr (Lead Commissioner: Skills and Employment) 
 

88. FUTURE MEETING DATES  
 
The dates of committee meetings 2017/18 were confirmed as: -  
 
Wednesday 6 September 2017 
Wednesday 29 November 2017 
Wednesday 14 March 2018 
Wednesday 20 June 2018 
Wednesday 5 September 2018 
Wednesday 21 November 2018 
 
Members agreed it would be useful to produce a programme of issues for 
consideration at future meetings.  
 
The items suggested at the meeting included:  
 

i. Analysis of ‘Productivity Gap’ - UK/Europe  
ii. Fastershire Broadband update – members were advised to visit the 

Fastershire Broadband website at the following link to establish what 
information was required: http://www.fastershire.com/  

iii. Mobile Phone Coverage in Rural Areas  
iv. Cheltenham Cyber Park – how to maximise the benefits of the Cheltenham 

Cyber Park 
v. Development of an Inclusive Growth Strategy  
vi. Data collection and analysis  
vii. Engaging with the local business sector  
viii. Engaging with trade union representatives  
ix. Impact of local issues (including infrastructure) on economic growth  

 

Page 6

http://www.fastershire.com/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 7 - 
 

The committee supported the proposal of developing a list of work plan items for 
consideration at future meetings. It was suggested a 6-month forward plan be 
produced for consideration at the next meeting.  
 
Action by - GFirst/GCC Officers   
 
  
 
 

 
CHAIRPERSON 

 
Meeting concluded at 11.55 am 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee, held 
at Shire Hall, Gloucester on Wednesday 21 June 2017.  

Present: Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Stephen Davies
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Colin Hay

Cllr David Norman MBE (Chairman)
Cllr Jack Williams
Cllr Paul McCloskey
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Kevin Stephens 
Cllr Jim Dewey 

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Bruce Hogan, (Forest of Dean District Council), 
Martin Whiteside, (Stroud District Council), and Dawn Melvin (Gloucester City 
Council). 

Cllr Jim Dewey deputised for Cllr Whiteside and Cllr Kevin Stephens deputised for 
Cllr Melvin. 

2. CHAIRMAN'S WELCOME 

Newly appointed Chairman, Cllr Dave Norman, welcomed everyone to the meeting 
and gave a short overview of his aspirations for the committee to work towards. 

3. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRMAN 

Cllr Kevin Cromwell, (Gloucestershire County Council), and Cllr Dawn Melvin 
(Gloucester City Council), received nominations for the position of Vice-Chairman of 
the Committee. On being put to a vote, Cllr Cromwell was appointed Vice 
Chairman. 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Gillian Parkinson, Head of Legal Services at Gloucestershire County Council, 
advised the committee on the governance arrangements for the committee, 
including member’s declaration of interests. 

Members were reminded that some of the issues considered by the committee 
could impact on matters affecting district and borough councils and to be mindful of 
making declarations of interest that allowed them to be open-minded when making 
decisions at local authorities. The information was noted. 

It was suggested officers from Gloucestershire County Council contact local 
authorities to obtain copies of member’s declaration of interest forms as an annual 
arrangement and this was agreed. Action by – Jo Moore

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

5. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 2017 were agreed and signed as an 
accurate record of that meeting. 

6. TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Members considered the committee terms of reference as agreed by 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) on 25 June 2014 and endorsed by the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee in October 2014, where the 
committee had;  

RESOLVED to:  

1) Review the decisions of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee, and

2) Review the overall impact and delivery outcomes of the Gloucestershire 
Strategic Economic Plan, and make recommendations to the 
Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Community Interest Company, (GFirst) 
and Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee on issues and 
improvements. 

Further to consideration of recommendations put forward by the former committee, 
and with the agreement of members at this meeting, it was suggested the 
committee review its terms of reference and submit a report to the GCC 
Constitution Committee, based on the following proposals: 

a) The committee to consider amending statement a) of the terms of reference, 
and the requirement ‘to review the decisions of the Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Joint Committee’. 

b) The statement to be amended to give the committee a wider scope by 
‘reviewing the economic plans and policies of the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Committee’, 

It was also proposed that:  

c) A request be put to the members of the Joint Committee that the Chairman, 
(or Vice Chairman), of the scrutiny committee be invited to comment on the 
views and work of the committee at joint committee meetings. A request to 
be made at the joint committee meeting on 6 September 2017. 

d) The minutes of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee 
meetings to be circulated with the agenda of the Joint Committee.

Members reflected on the current reporting arrangements for the committee, 
whereby officers from GFirst LEP and GCC present reports at both the Joint 
Committee meeting, (on the morning of the Scrutiny Committee), and at the 
Scrutiny Committee later the same day. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Expressing concern about the possible duplication of information, and the timing of 
reports, some members sought to review the current arrangement, whilst others 
agreed that the arrangement worked well and was flexible enough not to hinder the 
work of the scrutiny committee. 

After a full and detailed discussion, the committee resolved to continue to consider 
information presented to the joint committee, (under the current arrangement of the 
scrutiny committee meeting being held on the same day as the joint committee), 
supplemented by a report to the GCC Constitution Committee, outlining the scrutiny 
committee’s proposals on how the committee might add more value when 
scrutinising Economic Growth and Development in Gloucestershire. 

The committee welcomed the proposal that the Chairman of the Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee be invited to present the minutes of the 
scrutiny committee meetings at future joint committee meetings. 

Actions by – Jo Moore 

7. ECONOMIC VISION AND AMBITIONS 

a) Gloucestershire First Local Enterprise Partnership (GFirst LEP) 

David Owen, Chief  Executive of the Gloucestershire First Local Enterprise 
Partnership, (GFirst LEP), presented information on: - 

i. The role of the GFirst LEP

ii. Economic Growth Framework for Gloucestershire 

iii. Gloucestershire Growth Deal

iv. Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan (SEP)

Prior to the meeting, the committee had been advised to consider background 
information published on the council website at the links below: - 

Strategic Economic Plan for Gloucestershire 
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=168 

Strategic Economic Plan for Gloucestershire (Business Case) 
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=169

Building on Success – Gloucestershire Growth Deal 3 
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=380

The Chief Executive confirmed that the GFirst LEP was one of 38 Local Enterprise 
Partnerships responsible for commissioning positive economic growth and 
development in the UK. Clarifying the links with Gloucestershire County Council, 
(as the ‘accountable body’), the Chief Executive advised that the release of capital 
monies from Central Government via the Gloucestershire Growth Deal was 

Page 11

http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=168
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=169
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=380


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

overseen by the County Council based on decisions made by the GFirst LEP 
Board. 

Circulating copies of the GFirst LEP Annual Report 2017, the Chief Executive gave 
an update on the Government’s Growth Deal Programme and provided details of 
the award of £29.13m awarded in the latest round of Growth Deal Project funding.
 
The Chief Executive confirmed that, in considering the recent bid, the government 
had reviewed the county portfolio, and had chosen to award funding allocations 
intended to enable the LEP deliver the top three priority projects for 
Gloucestershire. 

The successful bids included; 

 Longford Housing Project, Gloucester - £4.53 million
 Cyber Business Park Project, Cheltenham - £22 million 
 Forest of Dean Campus Project, Cinderford - £2.6 million

It was noted that the total allocation at the end of the third round of the Growth Deal 
submission had reached £106.6 million.
 
Responding to concerns that some of the projects included in the submission had 
not received the sought after funding, the Chief Executive informed members that 
the unsuccessful bids would remain on the list of funding priorities as worthy 
investment opportunities. 

Responding to questions, the Chief Executive acknowledged the significance of 
challenges to the economic viability of Gloucestershire brought about an ageing 
population. He advised that this was a particular concern for the county, with every 
age band in Gloucestershire currently above the national average. 

Key considerations highlighted by the discussion included, concerns about housing 
development and a shortage of employment land in Gloucestershire. Responding to 
the areas identified by the previous committee as priority considerations, members 
spoke in support of the need to create more employment and skills in 
Gloucestershire and to make the county an attractive location in which to work, live 
and visit. 

b) Employment and Skills Update 

The committee considered a report from Pete Carr: Lead Commissioner: Skills and 
Employment, on the role and work of the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills 
Board and the progress to date of European Social Fund (ESF) Skills and 
Employability Projects for Gloucestershire. The committee noted the report and 
welcomed the suggestion that the Lead Commissioner present a more detailed 
update at a future meeting. 

The Lead Commissioner has since confirmed he would be inviting representatives 
from 2 of the ESF (European Social Fund) Funded Projects to present to the 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Scrutiny Committee at the committee meeting on 29 November 2017, followed by 
an opportunity for members to ask questions on each of the projects. 

The Lead Commissioner to update members on the progress of the Gloucestershire 
Employment and Skills Board at a future meeting. 

Actions by – Pete Carr (Lead Commissioner: Skills and Employment)

c) Gloucestershire Joint Economic Growth Joint Committee 

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, (GCC), gave 
an update on current issues, including a review of the economic growth agenda for 
Gloucestershire. 

Members considered a report presented to the Economic Growth Joint Committee 
earlier that day, including information on the Growth Policy for Gloucestershire; an 
update on the mechanisms for delivering growth in the county, and the potential for 
local growth opportunities. 

Included within the update was an overview of the government policies that have, or 
could have, a bearing on Gloucestershire’s growth ambitions, plus a summary of 
key developments that have impacted on the progress of economic growth, both at 
a national and local level. These included; the formal triggering of the Brexit 
process; the recent development of the government’s industrial strategy, (the 
government green paper published earlier in the year), and the government’s 
approach to devolution, (this issue is currently on hold). 

Expanding on the discussion held at the Joint Committee meeting earlier that day, 
the Commissioning Director confirmed that the committee had identified the 
following issues as key areas to consider when producing the joint committee 
agenda: housing development; the need to coordinate the various plans and 
policies in existence; and the need to establish a common evidence base from 
which to record information data. The scrutiny committee acknowledged the areas 
that had been identified and hoped that the role of the scrutiny committee would 
assist in adding value to the aspirations for economic growth within 
Gloucestershire. 

The issues suggested as issues to add to the committee work plan included; i) 
seeking clarification on the geographical context of the ‘South West of England’, (in 
terms of Gloucestershire’s ‘economic and characteristic’ compatibility within the 
region); ii) the progress of improvements to the rail network infrastructure for 
Gloucestershire; iii) Fastershire, in terms of ‘what happens next’, post 2019; iv) the 
case for creating a Growth Hub in Cheltenham; and v) skills and education. 

The report was noted. 

8. WORK PLAN 

Members reviewed the work of the previous committee, (2016-17), including 
proposals suggested as possible items to consider at future meetings. 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

It was noted that, at the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee meeting on 23 
February 2017, the committee had expressed concerns about the lines of 
engagement between the scrutiny committee and the Economic Growth Joint 
Committee. 

Comments had also been made about the role of district/borough members in 
communicating the work of the scrutiny committee to the respective local authorities 
and in advising the scrutiny committee of local aspirations and priorities. 

At the committee meeting on 15 March 2017, the following considerations were 
suggested as proposals for the incoming committee to consider at this, the initial 
meeting of the committee, post the County Council election on 4 May 2017. 

Details of the responses below provide an overview of the outcomes of the 
proposals:-   

1) Review the committee terms of reference and, (subject to the agreement of 
the new committee), consider making a recommendation to the Constitution 
Committee to amend the wording of the terms of reference. 

Committee response: A form of words to be considered at the scrutiny 
committee meeting on 6 September 2017, followed by submission of a short 
report to the GCC Constitution Committee meeting on 9 October 2017, 
seeking to revise the terms of reference. 

2) Review the current arrangement of holding joint committee and scrutiny 
committee meetings on the same day. (It was noted that the arrangement 
was set to run until 2018). Any changes would be subject to the support of 
the incoming committee and only implemented from 2019. 

Committee response: The committee agreed to continue with the current 
arrangement, pending a review at the end of the 2017/18 cycle of meetings 
in March 2017.

3) Promote awareness of the role and purpose of ‘Leadership Gloucestershire’. 
Acknowledging the merits of the proposal, it was suggested an arrangement 
be introduced to publish information relating to the terms of reference; 
membership; responsibilities; working arrangements; priorities and links to 
meeting papers for Leadership Gloucestershire via the GCC weekly 
‘Members Matter’ publication. (This action has been implemented).  

Committee response: The committee welcomed the proposal, including the 
proposal that the information be shared with committee representatives and 
democratic services teams from the district and borough councils, (if 
required, the respective democratic services teams to share links to the 
information with district/borough councillors via local authority newsletters). 

4) Propose that the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Economic Growth 
Scrutiny Committee attend meetings of the Economic Joint Committee. The 
Chairman, (or Vice Chairman), to report on the work of the scrutiny 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

committee and present an overview of the information presented to the GCC 
Overview Scrutiny Management Committee and Full Council meetings. 

Committee response: The Chairman of the Economic Growth Scrutiny 
Committee, Cllr Dave Norman, to put the proposal to the Gloucestershire 
Economic Growth Joint Committee meeting on 6 September 2017. With the 
agreement of the joint committee, a standing item to be included on the 
agenda of all future meetings and the minutes of the scrutiny committee 
meetings circulated with the agenda. 

5) The scrutiny committee report presented to the GCC Overview Scrutiny 
Management Committee (OSMC) and Full Council meetings be circulated to 
committee representatives and democratic services teams at district/borough 
councils, (this proposal received the support of the GCC Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee and Full Council prior to the County 
election in May 2017).

Committee response: The committee supported the proposal. 

6) That the new committee seek to cultivate the role of district/borough 
members as ‘Ambassadors’ to their local authorities. 

 Committee response: The committee supported the proposal. 

7) That the two ‘stand alone committee meetings’ held each year be held at one 
of the 6 district council offices, (arranged on a rotational basis), with an 
invitation to councillors from that authority to attend the meeting and present 
questions on a ‘localised’ related issue. Lead officers to be invited to attend 
the meeting to consider issues and priorities relevant to the economic 
agenda for the district/borough where the meeting is being held. 

Committee response: The committee supported the proposal. 

The Chairman sought nominations for where the committee meeting on 19 
October 2017 might be held and it was agreed Cotswold District Council 
would host the meeting. A one page strategy to be completed by Cotswold 
District Council in advance of the meeting. Since the meeting, a local 
member has requested that a local priority area be put forward as a 
discussion item at the meeting involve an update on Mobile Phone Coverage 
in Rural Areas. 

8) To avoid the possible duplication of presentations on related issues, lead 
officers to cross reference presentations at scrutiny committee meetings by 
inviting members from other committees, (namely the Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee), to attend meetings where a 
specific/related issue will be considered. 

Committee response: The committee supported the proposal

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

9) Items suggested as possible items for consideration at future meetings, 
(proposed by the former committee (2016/17), included: -   

i. National Policy Development (including industrial strategy)

ii. Education, Employment and Skills (including Growth Deal Projects)

iii. Infrastructure and Density 

iv. Promoting Gloucestershire 

Committee response: The committee endorsed the suggestions (above), 
and agreed to add to the following additional items to form the committee 
work plan 2017/18: 

v. Housing (incorporating a review of potential changes to the Joint Core 
Strategy)  

vi. Vision 2050 (to incorporate issues relating to Promoting 
Gloucestershire as a desirable location to live, work and visit). 

vii. Transportation Links

9. FUTURE MEETINGS 

Meeting dates (2017)

6 September 2017
19 October 2017* (Cotswold District Council to host the meeting)
29 November 2017

Meeting dates (2018) 

22 February 2018* (meeting to be held at District/Borough Council) 
14 March 2018
20 June 2018
5 September 2018
31 October 2018* (meeting to be held at District/Borough Council)
21 November 2018

All meetings commence at 1.30 pm

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 3.50 pm

Page 16



Page 1 of 5

GFirst LEP Update for GEGJC meeting 6th September 2017

Prepared by Mally Findlater (Programme Manager GFirst LEP)

1. Gloucestershire Growth Deal

1.1 Current project funding

The current status of the projects that are going through the approval and funding process is as follows:

Stage of Process Project/s
Outline Business Cases 
Approved

All

Conditional funding letters 
issued

All for GD1 & 2. GD3 projects have not received conditional 
funding letters. There is no immediate requirement for this.

Due diligence commenced 22 projects: GREEN; STEM projects x 4; Airport; Blackfriars; Cyber 
Skills; Growth Hub expansion; Growth Hub Network; Berkeley 
Bridges; Cinderford spine road; RAU rural innovation centre; 
Gloucester Central Transport Hub; Metz Way; A40 Benhall bus lane; 
A40 Over Roundabout, Cinderford New College campus, new: Retail 
Entrepreneurship, A419 Corridor improvements, Gloucester South 
West Bypass, Cheltenham Spa Railway Station

Due diligence completed 18 projects: GREEN; STEM projects x 4; airport; Blackfriars; Cyber; 
Growth Hub expansion; Growth Hub Network; Berkeley Bridges; 
Cinderford spine road; RAU rural innovation centre; Gloucester 
Central Transport Hub; Metz Way; A40 Benhall bus lane; A40 Over 
Roundabout, Cinderford New College campus

Due diligence completed but 
project not being progressed

1 project: A40 Benhall bus lane

GFirst LEP Investment Panel 
review of project due 
diligence findings and 
recommendation to the LEP 
Board

None since last Joint Committee meeting.
26/9/17 scheduled to consider Retail Entrepreneurship, A419 
Corridor improvements, Gloucester South West Bypass, Cheltenham 
Spa Railway Station

GFirst LEP Board approval for 
funding agreement

17 projects: GREEN; STEM projects x 4; airport; Blackfriars; Cyber 
Skills; Growth Hub Expansion; Growth Hub Network; Berkeley 
Bridges; Cinderford spine road; RAU rural innovation centre; 
Gloucester Central Transport Hub; Metz Way/Abbeymead Avenue; 
A40 Over Roundabout, Cinderford New College campus

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 5

1.2 Project reporting (Q1 17/18 to 30.06.17)

Current figures are reported alongside figures in brackets, which are those reported at the previous 
GEGJC meeting:

 The out turn from the current Growth Deal programme to date is £38.06 (prev £35.45m) which 
reflects the agreed cumulative under spend on the programme to March 2017 of £5.232m, 
recovery is forecast during 2017/8, mainly in Q4.

The actual cumulative total spend (including direct leverage/match) is £36.22m (prev £28.99m) 

 Forecast Direct Match funding declared to date £53.72m (prev £52.78m). Higher than expected 
match (public sector) from GREEN and Blackfriars projects puts us well ahead of forecast 
already. Expected that all direct match will have occurred by 2021

 The total leverage (direct and follow-on) declared by the projects (i.e. includes some committed 
but not yet spent) is unchanged at £75.27m (prev £75.25m). Currently forecast for total 
leverage is £313m, with strong private sector investment in GREEN, Airport & Blackfriars (eg  
Cityheart development of 295 student units)

 Jobs – DIRECT jobs to date 1180 (prev 1176) associated directly with projects. Wider jobs 
impacts to be assessed periodically. Jobs to date mostly from Growth Hub activity, GREEN and 
Gloucester Airport.

The following documents have been provided in addition to the summary above. These are also 
published on the LEP website 

http://www.gfirstlep.com/Projects-in-Gloucestershire/How-are-we-doing~q~/

 Forward Look: Programme planning tool, supports resource planning, ensures that the due 
diligence assessor, the investment panel, the Joint Committee and the LEP Board are aware of 
future activity. Updated Quarterly  (Appendix 1)

 Projects Summary: Forecast outputs from each project, the total for each metric, and a 
comparison to the Growth Deal. Updated Quarter. NB on all metrics, the forecast exceeds the 
commitment in the Growth Deal. (Appendix 2)

 Dashboard: Visual representation of summary data including progress against annual forecasts. 
Updated Quarterly (Appendix 3)

1.3 Process for re-allocation of Growth Deal Funds

The following detail is to update the Joint Committee of the re-allocation process, and to make the 
members aware of a change that impacts on their potential involvement in ‘exceptional 
circumstances’ 

At the mid-way point in the delivery of the Growth Deal funds, the LEP (with the Accountable Body) are 

Page 18

http://www.gfirstlep.com/Projects-in-Gloucestershire/How-are-we-doing~q~/


Page 3 of 5

implementing the process for the re-allocation of Growth Programme funds that have become, or will 
become, available due to projects being withdrawn or needing less than their indicative funding 
allocation. 

The process for this was approved by the Board on 24.04.17. Full details are available on the LEP website 
under Agenda Item 8 – Reallocation of Growth Deal Funds : http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/About-
Us/The-Board/. 

GEGJC were provided with full details on 21/6/17.

1.3.1  Notification of change to timetable for the re-allocation of Growth Deal funds

The timetable for the reallocation of funds that will be available due to project changes (either projects 
spending less or being withdrawn) has been revised. There were 5 projects that were unable to provide 
sufficient information to enable an assessment of their status in time for the 8/8/17 Board meeting date 
(see 1.3.2 below)

The impact on any promoters that are considering submitting an ‘exceptional’ project for consideration 
through either the LEP Board, or the GEGJC, is that the detail of the ‘opportunity’ will now be confirmed 
on 12/10/17. Therefore, they have longer in which to prepare their business case. The deadline for 
submission has been revised to 10.11.17.

There have been no early notifications of potential ‘exceptional’ projects. 

Joint Committee members who have a project that they feel is in this category, which they wish to 
sponsor, should:

 Present a clearly articulated case to support the status of the new project as ‘exceptional’
 Inform the LEP and Accountable Body by email to mally.findlater@gfirstlep.com , 

neil.hopwood@gfirstlep.com and claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk
 Inform the Joint Committee representatives on the LEP Board (currently Mark Hawthorne and 

Steve Jordan) of their intention to sponsor these projects.

A revised timetable was emailed to the LEP Board, Joint Committee and other stakeholders on 27.07.17 
(Appendix 4) 

1.3.2 LEP Board written procedure : Growth Deal Programme reallocation of funds

The LEP Board meeting scheduled for 08.08.17 was cancelled. In order to adhere to the timetable, 
‘Growth Deal Programme reallocation of funds’ was reviewed and processed by written procedure. 

http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/About-Us/The-Board/

As a result of this process the following decisions were made:

Page 19

http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/About-Us/The-Board/
http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/About-Us/The-Board/
mailto:mally.findlater@gfirstlep.com
mailto:neil.hopwood@gfirstlep.com
mailto:claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.gfirstlep.com/gfirst-LEP/About-Us/The-Board/


Page 4 of 5

 Marketing Gloucester’s ‘Supporting Retail Entrepreneurship’ project was confirmed as the 
substitute project for the Retail Lab £400K investment

 Projects that were under review and rated ‘green’ had their indicative funding confirmed:
(Cheltenham Cyber Park, A40 Longford Traffic Scheme, A419 Corridor Improvements, Gloucester South 
West Bypass, Cheltenham Spa Railway Station, Lydney Transport Strategy, The substitute Retail 
Entrepreneur project)

 Projects that were under review and rated ‘amber’ were granted extra time to provide 
information, for a final decision at the October Board meeting: 

(Advanced Renewable Energy Resource Centre (ARERC), B4063 Staverton Bridge Junction, A38 B4066 
access to Berkley, St Barnabas Roundabout)

 There were no projects rated as ‘red’

2. European funding programme: GFirst update

The European funding comes from three funding streams: European Regional Development Fund 
(ERDF), European Social Fund (ESF) and European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD). The 
funds are allocated in Euros, so the detail in Sterling is subject to change when the exchange rate is 
reviewed, which is expected in the coming months. 

ERDF (£15,272,708)

£8,528,156 has been contracted across various thematic objectives (Innovation, Broadband, SME 
Competitiveness, Low carbon and Environment). The remaining £6,744,552 includes calls that are 
scheduled to be published from September 2017 through to May 2018, and a ‘performance reserve’ of 
6%. This reserve will be reviewed in 2018.

ESF (£14,460,977) 

£9,785,023 has been contracted across Social Inclusion, General Skills and Employment. The remaining 
£4,665,954 is under review.

EAFRD (£2,500,000)

This is distributed over two themes: ‘Rural tourism’, and ‘Broadband’. Under Rural Tourism £200,000 
has been contracted, and there are expressions of interest that exceed the balance of £1,300,000. GFirst 
had held £1,000,000 for Broadband from local funds. It has just been announced that there will be a 
national investment in Broadband that is expected to make it unnecessary to invest locally. If this proves 
to meet our needs, the £1m would be reallocated, probably to a Rural Business development theme.

Detail of the distribution of funds has been provided with this report. (Appendix 5)

3. Great South West  project (update as requested by GEGJC)

Page 20



Page 5 of 5

Cornwall, Dorset and Heart of the South West LEP’s have developed a Great South West (GSW) brand, 
and have approached the rest of the LEP’s in the South West to ask them to engage with it, and use it to 
negotiate with Government. The intention is to benefit in a similar way to the Northern Power House 
and Midlands Engine. West of England and Swindon and Wiltshire LEP’s have reservations about the 
appropriateness and benefit of this suggestion. 

GFirst LEP has engaged with these discussions, but to date, is not convinced that this will be the best 
approach for Gloucestershire. Parallel discussions are ongoing with other LEP’s that we share borders 
with, or share strategic interests. The options are being considered, and it is possible that the LEP would 
enter into a small number of arrangements (including GSW) rather than an exclusive arrangement with 
the South West. 

Mally Findlater 23/08/2017

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Growth Deal Projects 'Forward Look' Key  Milestones

(Based on latest  information at time of publication) Final business case preparation and due diligence/assessment

Aug‐17 Investment panel/board review/decision

Rev 8 Funding agreement (subject to board approval)

Formal project launch 

Notes Start of construction/implementation

All planned projects are still subject to  investment appraisal and LEP Board approval 

GD3 Projects to be included when initial timings are available  FY 2017/18 Q4 FY 2018/19 Q1 FY 2018/19 Q2 FY 2018/19 Q3

LGF 2019 ‐2021

Project Masterlist Category Summary Status £m's Jan  Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan‐Mar Apr‐Jun Jul‐Sept Oct‐Dec Future dates

Growth Hub Expansion
Business 
Support

Expanded Core Growth Hub and New 
Business School @ UoG

Construction under way on site. £5.000 Funding 
Agreement

Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est Completion

Growth Hub Network
Business 
Support

Network of Growth Hubs across the 
county

EOIs under review for 2nd 
round/Tier 2 centres

£5.000 Funding 
Agreement

Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Complete roll‐out 
mid 2019

Farm 491
Business 
Support

Agri‐tech innovation and business 
incubator centre (RAU)

Phase 1 (Harn Hill) now open, 
main campus due 2018 

£2.920 Est Completion

Glos Airport
Business 
Support

Access road to open up land for 
development

Project complete, first new 
build under way.

£0.550

Retail Entrepenuer
Business 
Support

Retail skills & digital high street pilot 
scheme

Scheme & Business case being 
developed

£0.400 Due Diligence Inv Panel Board
Funding 

Agreement
Project 
Launch

Est Completion

Cheltenham Cyber Park *
Enabling 

Infrastructure
Road and other infrastructure to 
facilitate Cheltenham Cyber Park 

Early planning stages £22.000 Submit Business 
case

Construction start 
summer 2019

Cinderford Northern Link Road
Enabling 

Infrastructure

Access road enabling new college 
campus and first phase of 

development of Northern Qtr, 

WIP, road to open Aug 2017, 
landscaping Oct/Nov

£3.800 Est 
Completion

A40 Longford Traffic Scheme Housing
Traffic mitigation to release a strategic 

housing site
Early planning stages £4.530 Inv Panel & 

Board

Blackfriars & Quayside Housing
De‐risking and preparation of site for 

development
Project on track to complete de‐

risking May 2018
£4.130 Est Completion

Advanced Renewable Energy 
Resource Centre (ARERC)

Innovation
Renewable energy research & 

comunications centre, Berkeley Green
Revised business case for 
submission Sept 2017

£4.000 Due Diligence Inv Panel Board
Funding 

Agreement
Project Launch

Construction 
start

Completion Sept 
2019

GREEN Skills Centre Skills
Gloucs Renewable Energy, 

Engineering & Nuclear Skills Centre
Building complete, full 
operation in Sept 2017

£5.000

Berkley Green Cyber Security 
Centre

Skills
Cyber Security skills centre, dual 

location UoG & Berkely
Centre to open Sept 2017 £3.000 Est 

Completion

Cinderford New College Campus Skills
Funding to support build of new 
Gloscol campus in Cinderford

Funding agreed, construction 
started June 2017

£2.600 Due Diligence
Funding 

Agreement
Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est Completion

Gloucestershire STEM centres Skills
STEM teaching facility upgrades at 5 

sites across Gloucs.
Complete, now in delivery 

phase.
£2.096

Elmbridge (Tail End Major DfT 
scheme)

Transport
Major roundabout upgrade A40, key 

strategic route.
Under construction, est 
completion Sept 2017

£9.070 Est 
Completion

Gloucester Transport Hub** Transport
New Transport Hub for Gloucester & 

highways mods
Under construction due to open 

summer 2018
£6.400 Est Completion

A419 Corridor Improvements Transport
Junction improvements along A419 
between M5 J13 and Stonehouse

On track for submission to Oct 
board

£4.360 Inv Panel Board
Funding 

Agreement
Project Launch

Construction 
start

Completion late 
2020

A40 Over Roundabout ** Transport
Widening approaches to the 

roundabout & provision of a third 
circulatory lane 

Detailed design & planning in 
progress. Start on Site Jan 18

£2.230
Funding 

Agreement
Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

Gloucester South West By Pass Transport
Widening of Llanthony Road section 

of South West bypass. 
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£2.000 Inv Panel Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project Launch
Construction 

start
Completion mid 

2019

A38 Berkeley Bridges Transport Replacement Northbound bridge Complete June 2017 £1.990 Complete

B4063 Staverton Bridge Junction Transport
Upgrade to the B4063/Old Gloucester 

Road junction
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£1.600 Inv Panel & Board 

Q4 18/19
Completion end 

2020

Cheltenham Spa Railway 
Station**

Transport
Improvement to station forecourt & 

additional parking
GWR confirmed as promoter, 

revised scheme agreed. 
£1.497 Inv Panel Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project Launch
Construction 

start
Est Completion

A38 B4066 access to Berkley Transport Junction upgrade A38/B4066 
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£1.150 Inv Panel Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project Launch
Construction 

start
Completion mid 

2018

Lydney Transport Strategy Transport
Local junction improvements and 

cycle access
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£1.000 Inv Panel Board

Funding 
Agreement

Project Launch
Construction 

start
Completion mid 

2019

St Barnabas Roundabout Transport Roundabout upgrade 
Scheme & Business case being 

developed
£1.000 Inv Panel & Board 

Q4 18/19
Completion end 

2020

Abbeymead /Metz Way** Transport
Junction & Pedestrian Crossing 

upgrades (smart signals)
Fully approved, work to start 

July‐Aug 17.
£0.500

Project 
Launch

Construction 
start

Est 
Completion

* DfT 'Retained' scheme currently Sub‐Total (committed) £97.823

** Original GLTB scheme Agreed Govt Profile £101.716

Variance £3.893 To be re‐allocated based on agreed process

Harnhill site Under Construction, main campus completion due Mar/April 2018

Project now in delivery phase

Project scoping, consultation, traffic modelling etc DfT assessment

Final Business case/Due Diligence

Under construction estimated completion now Aug 2017

Final Business case

Project scoping, consultation, traffic modelling etc

Develop Business Case

FY 2016/17 Q4

20182017

FY 2017/18 Q1 FY 2017/18 Q2 FY 2017/18 Q3

Scheme & Business Case being developed

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

Under construction, completion estimated summer 2018

Under construction estimated completion SeptOct 2017

Full business case being developed

Under construction estimated completion Jun 2017

Scheme & Business Case being developed

Under construction completion July 2017

Project now in delivery phase

Under Construction completion due May 2018

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

Project now in delivery phase

Scheme & Business Case being developed

Scheme & Business Case being developed

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

Scheme design & consultation 

Final Business case/Due 
Diligence

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Growth Deal Projects Summary

As of 30-6-17

Current Forecasts to end of programme (March 2021) with Actuals where available

Project Name Growth Fund Category Homes Total jobs
Private 

Leverage £m's
Public Sector 
Leverage £m's

Commercial 
Floorspace m2 

Employment 
Land

Skills 
Capital m2 App'ships

BCR (Road 
schemes)

Growth Hub Amalgamated 10,000,000£     Business Support 0 6644 £0.05 £19.5 1477 0 3800 0 N/A

Farm 491 2,920,000£          Business Support 0 207 £0.8 £0.0 1380 0 0 0 N/A

Glos Airport 550,000£              Business Support 0 106 £9.7 £0.0 12000 6.8 0 0 N/A

Retail Entrepreneur 400,000£              Business Support 0 50 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 N/A

Cheltenham Cyber Park * 22,000,000£    Enabling Infrastructure 500 7500 £50.0 £0.0 40000 45 0 0 N/A

Cinderford Northern Link Road 3,800,000£          Enabling Infrastructure 110 0 £0.0 £5.3 0 2 0 0 N/A

A40 Longford Traffic Mitigation * 4,530,000£      Housing 1300 630 £3.3 £0.0 5000 8.3 0 0 TBC

Blackfriars & Quayside 4,130,000£          Housing 250 45 £85.0 £12.0 4000 2.5 0 0 N/A

Advanced Renewables  Centre 4,000,000£          Innovation 0 0 £3.0 £0.8 2000 0 0 0 N/A

GREEN Skills Centre 5,000,000£       Skills 0 125 £19.5 £20.6 0 10.7 4401 300 N/A

Berkeley Green Cyber Security Centre 3,000,000£          Skills 0 127 £4.0 £2.0 1461 0 1461 213 N/A

Cinderford  ‐ New Gloscol Campus 2,600,000£      Skills 55 150 £0.0 £12.5 0 0 6000 0 N/A

Gloucestershire STEM centres 2,096,000£       Skills 0 0 £0.0 £3.8 0 0 6141 1064 N/A

Elmbridge (Tail‐end Major road scheme) 9,070,000£       Transport 0 0 £0.0 £5.2 0 0 0 0 5

Gloucester Transport Hub (Kings Quarter)  6,400,000£          Transport 100 0 £40.0 £8.8 1000 0 0 0 N/A

A419 Corridor Improvements 4,360,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

A40 Roundabout & Highnam Lodge 2,230,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.1 £0.0 0 0 0 0 5

Gloucester South West By Pass 2,000,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.1 £2.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Berkeley Bridge Replacement 1,990,000£       Transport 0 0 £0.0 £1.0 0 0 0 0 5

B4063 Staverton Bridge Junction 1,600,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Cheltenham Spa Railway Station 1,497,000£          Transport 0 0 £1.8 £0.2 0 0 0 0 TBC

A38 B4066 access to Berkeley 1,150,000£          Transport 0 0 £1.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Lydney Transport Strategy 1,000,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

St Barnabas Roundabout 1,000,000£          Transport 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Abbeymead /Metz Way 500,000£              Transport 0 0 £1.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 4

Re‐allocated project(s) 3,873,000£      TBA 0 0 £0.0 £0.0 0 0 0 0 TBC

Forecast Totals* 101,696,000£  2315 15584 £219.4 £93.7 68318 75.3 21803 1577

Growth Deal (1,2 & 3) Commitment 2255 14280 N/A 75.3 N/A 1014

* for GD3 schemes includes outcomes post 2021

£285.8

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Growth Deal Progress Dashboard (with GD3)

Q1 17/18 (to 30-06-17)

Out turn of funds Totals (£m's)

Govt Profile (inc DfT schemes) £101.72

Plan £101.62

Actual (to Q1 17/18) £38.06

Actual Spend vs Out turn Totals (£m's)

Plan £101.62

Actual (to Q1 17/18) £36.22

Jobs (direct & indirect) 15/16 & 16/1 Totals 

Plan 15584

Actual (to Q1 17/18) 1180

Direct Match - £m committed Totals (£m's)

Forecast £70.41

Actual (to Q1 17/18) £53.72

Total Leverage - £m Totals (£m's)

Forecast £313.11

Confirmed (to Q1 17/18) £75.27

Housing Unit starts Totals 

Forecast 2315

Actual (to Q1 17/18) 49

1180

Post 2021

£27m

49

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

£13.170m £23.802m £13.344m

2018/19 2019/20

£68.9m

2020/21

£63m

£53.72m

£10.323m

513

2017/18

1368

2018/19

1845

2019/20

2071

2020/21

2457

Post 2021 

7330

Increased spend on Gloucester Bus Station and Blackfriars projects in relation to outturn and advance spend on some transport schemes means spend is tracking close to out turn.

£18.385m £22.593m

£36.22m

2018/19

109 176

2019/20

730

2020/21 Post 2021

1300

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£14.859m

2020/21

£22.593m£23.802m£13.170m

2017/18

£13.355m

2018/19

£38.06m

£10.699m

£13.344m £10.323m £18.385m

2015/16 2016/17

£13.170m £29.150m

2019/20

£20.483m

Majority of 17-18 out-turn is scheduled for Q4. Year end 16/17 was in line with forecast agreed with central Government.

Jobs to date mostly from Growth Hub activity, GREEN and Gloucs Airport. New ESIF funded core Growth Hub activity started in May 2017.

Higher than expected match (public sector) from GREEN and Blackfriars projects puts us well ahead of forecast already. Expected that all direct match will have occurred by 2021

Currently forecast for total  leverage is now in excess of £300m, with strong private sector investment in Cheltenham Cyber Park, GREEN, Blackfriars, and the Gloucester King's Quarter (Bus Station) 

Construction started on 295 student units (equiv to 49 housing units) in May 2017. JCS Examination in Public report due in Sept 2017.

2015/16

£15.47m

2016/17

£15.76m

2017/18

£10.63m

2018/19

£17.07m

£75.27m

£15.5m

2015/16

£25.8m

2016/17 2017/18

£43m £67m

2019/20

£4.51m

2020/21

£6.97m

Page 1 of 2

P
age 27



Growth Deal Progress Dashboard (with GD3)

Q1 17/18 (to 30-06-17)
Apprenticeship starts Totals 

Forecast 1577

Actual (to Q1 17/18) 120

Skills - floorspace (m2) Totals m2

Forecast 21803

Actual (to Q1 17/18) 12003

Commercial Floorspace (m2) Totals m2

Forecast 68318

Actual (to Q1 17/18) 4000

Employment Land (Ha) Total Ha

Forecast 75.3

Actual (to Q1 17/18) 21

Skills - Qualifications Totals 

Forecast 4960

Actual (to Q1 17/18) 0

2019/20

3

2020/21

50.3

257

2020/21

2018/19

2016/17

2016/17

514

2017/18

900

2018/19

1103

2019/20

1176

2020/21

1267

12003

4000

2016/17

10542

2017/18

1461

Large proportion (45ha) of the employment land created is associated with Cheltenham Cyber Park. Work on the new Cirencester Campus site started in May. 

21

2015/16

11

9800

2016/17

3000

2017/18

7761

2018/19

5557

2019/20

6000

2020/21

11000

Post 2021

35000

First new hangars in construction at Gloucs Airport c4000 m2. 

First Qualification outputs due in June 2017, will be agreed at the annual reviews in Sept/Oct 2017.

Apprenticeships directly associated with Growth Deal Projects only, ie GREEN, Gloscol, Cirencester & Berkeley Cyber Centre. To be updated post enrolment in Sept/Oct 2017.

Berkeley Cyber Skills Centre handed over to UoG 28-6-17.

430 450

2019/202017/18

120

100 340

2018/19

2016/17

9

2017/18

3

Page 2 of 2

P
age 28



GFirst LEP: Reallocation timetable for Growth Deal funding  revised 27.07.17

Information for Promoters, LEP Board and other stakeholders.

MF – Mally Findlater (Programme Manager)

DO – David Owen (Chief Executive)

AB – Accountable Body (GCC)

Process Activity who when Completed 
by

Notes

Identify the 
opportunity: 
value and annual 
profile.

Communication with Projects which 
have not yet progressed through due 
diligence to a funding agreement 
requesting full status update by 
30.06.17. 
Objective: to establish the full total 
funds that will be available for 
reallocation

MF & 
project 
promoters

31.05.17 30.06.17
Done

All current projects with indicative 
Growth Deal funding, not yet confirmed, 
and for which there isn’t a funding 
agreement in place required to confirm 
the status of their project. 
To establish if: a) on track, no change b) 
project to be withdrawn c) project 
variation that necessitates LEP review

Collation of responses, and where 
necessary, LEP review.
Objective: Full information, including 
RAG rating, available for the LEP Board  
08.08.17

MF 01.07.17 – 
31.07.17

31.07.17
In hand

If required, LEP staff or Board members 
will review projects in detail, working 
closely with the promoters

LEP Board review of unfunded projects 
incl. RAG rating. Revised: Decision about 
which projects with indicative funding 
will have their funding confirmed, which 
will be offered an extension until the 
October Board and which (if any) will 
have their indicative funding  removed 
either voluntarily or enforced 

LEP Board 08.08.17 08.08.17 Revised: Interim decision

P
age 29



Revised: LEP Board review of unfunded 
projects that were offered an extension 
08/08/17. Decision about which of 
these projects will have their funding 
confirmed, and which (if any) will have 
their indicative funding  removed either 
voluntarily or enforced 

LEP Board 10.10.17 10.10.17 Revised: Final decision

The specific details of the ‘opportunity’ 
for reallocation of funds confirmed (to 
include the value and profile)

MF & AB Revised:
11.10.17 tbc

Revised:
11.10.17 tbc

Communication 
of the 
opportunity

All projects in GD3 bid that were 
unsuccessful made aware of 
reallocation process

DO / MF May
done

GFirst Board & GEGJC made aware of 
reallocation process and timetable, 
including opportunity to nominate 
‘exceptional’ projects. 

MF / DO June 2017
done

Final clarification of the value and 
profile of the opportunity to GD3 
projects, LEP Board & GEGJC

MF & AB Revised:
12.10.17 tbc

Revised:
12.10.17 tbc

Emails to GD3 promoters, Board, Joint 
Committee including deadline for 
submission

Interim communication with all 
potential projects

MF Revised:
June - 
October

Process All applicants to submit revised Business 
cases or new Business cases (if 
‘exceptional’ through Board or GEGJC)

Project 
promoters

Revised: 
August/ 
November

Revised: 
10.11.17 tbc

Board Sub Group process to review 
applications and agree prioritised list 
using standard process (see assurance 

LEP Board, 
AB & LEP 
staff

Revised: 
November

Revised: w/c 
20.11.17 tbc

P
age 30



framework) to recommend to the LEP 
Board
Final decision at LEP Board LEP Board Revised: 

12/12/17

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GFirst LEP

European Structural and Investment Funds 

Aug‐17

TOTALS Euros £

6% 

performance 

reserve

Balance

allocated unallocated

Balance excl 

performance 

reserve

ERDF 19,580,395        15,272,708      916,360           14,356,348      8,528,156                                          6,744,552   ‐                  

ESF 18,539,715        14,460,977      9,795,023                                          4,665,954  

EAFRD 2,500,000        200,000                                             2,300,000  

Totals 18,539,715        16,960,977      9,995,023                                          6,965,954  

nb EAFRD not available in euros

Fund ERDF
Total allocation 

in fund EUROS

Total allocation 

in fund £ at 

0.78

6% 

performance 

reserve

Balance
Allocated to 

projects £

unallocated 

incl 

performance 

reserve

TA TA 289,580      

PA1 ‐ Innovation 1,908,216          1,488,408        89,304              1,399,104        RAU IAI 550,000      

UoG GRIP 850,002       88,406            

PA2 ‐ Broadband 363,488             283,521           17,011              266,510           Fastershire 250,000       33,521            

PA3 ‐ SME Competitiveness 9,092,659          7,092,274        425,536           6,666,738        Export for Growth 250,000      

Manufacturing 414,302      

GH Core 1,674,633  

SaGE ‐ Start up 478,210      

GAIN ‐ Coaching 492,579      

local export call 500,000          

Digi tech business support 500,000          

GH core (2) 1,628,000     

Other business support 729,014          

Balance unallocated 425,536          

PA4  ‐ low carbon 4,338,747          3,384,223        203,053           3,181,170        Severn Wye 2,181,969  

New Call June 17 1,000,000     

Balance unallocated 202,254          

PA6 ‐ Environment 3,877,285          3,024,282          181,456             2,842,826         

 2 applications in development 

(connecting habitat cheltenham 

£742,463/ urban greening glos city 

council £743,998)  1,386,461    

Balance unallocated 1,637,821     

Totals 19,580,395        15,272,708      916,360           14,356,348      8,528,156   6,744,552     

Fund ESF
Total allocation 

in fund EUROS

Total allocation 

in fund £ at 

0.78

Allocated to 

projects £
unallocated

Social Inclusion (Opt‐in Big 

Lottery) 3,182,152          2,482,079          Social Inclusion 1,639,623     842,456           

Skills SFA 11,756,287        9,169,903        Apprenticeship support 1,708,000  

Entrepreneurial skills 1,023,200  

Employment Pathfinder 770,000      

STEM activity 859,950      

Skills for Low Carbon 2,579,250  

Other 2,229,503     

Employment Opt‐in DWP 3,601,276          2,808,995        General employment support 1,215,000   1,593,995     

Totals 18,539,715        14,460,977      9,795,023   4,665,954     

Fund EAFRD
Total allocation 

in fund EUROS

Total allocation 

in fund £ at 

0.78

Allocated to 

projects £
unallocated

Broadband 1,000,000        unallocated 1,000,000     

Rural Tourism 1,500,000        Contracted 200,000      

unallocated 1,300,000     

Totals 2,500,000        200,000       2,300,000     

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Economic Intelligence AGENDA NO: 6

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee, 6th September 2017

Report author Claire Edwards – Team Leader: Economic Growth and Strategic Planning, 
Gloucestershire County Council. 
Email: claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Mike Dawson – Chief Executive, Tewkesbury Borough Council and Chair of 
the GEGJC Senior Officer Group

Email: mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Background 
documents

CCN Commission: Understanding County Economies - 
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unleash-the-power-of-englands-
counties-leaders-urge/

INFORM Gloucestershire - 
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/MainMenu.aspx?cookieCheck=true&JSc
ript=1

Main consultees Gloucestershire Districts, City and Borough partners
GFirst LEP

Planned dates Presentation to GEGJC on 29th November 2017

Purpose of report

To update members of the committee on the findings of a recent report 
commissioned by the County Council Network (CCN), focusing on 
understanding County economies and to consider how partners can work 
collectively to improve the collation of data/intelligence across the County to 
strengthen economic baselines.

Recommendations

The Committee to:
1. Note the attached report summarising the Oxford Economics report on 

County Economies (Appendix 1) 
2. Consider the recommended actions to improve the collation and 

utilisation of data/intelligence across the County 

Reasons for 
recommendations

To improve the committee’s awareness of the range of economic data 
currently collated and develop a more consistent and effective approach to 
our collective economic baseline analysis necessary to inform funding 
bid/investment strategy development and growth/service delivery 
performance management 

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct resource implications associated with these 
recommendations at present

Page 35

Agenda Item 6

mailto:claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unleash-the-power-of-englands-counties-leaders-urge/
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unleash-the-power-of-englands-counties-leaders-urge/
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/MainMenu.aspx?cookieCheck=true&JScript=1
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/MainMenu.aspx?cookieCheck=true&JScript=1


Background 
1. At the last committee meeting in June, members had a brief discussion about 

economic data and consistency of approach, expressing particular interest in 
improving their working knowledge of the economic baselines currently 
maintained and the range of performance indicators which could be used to 
monitor the impact of economic growth activity in the County.

2. In addition, with the JCS process now moving from plan formulation into delivery 
and potential early review, the collective challenge across all LPAs of monitoring 
housing and employment land supply and maintaining robust baselines, has 
become all the more relevant.

3. It is also anticipated that in place of a Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) refresh, 
GFirst LEP could be tasked with the production of a local Industrial Strategy as 
early as next year.

4. Therefore, whilst also responding directly to Member interest, it would seem 
timely to review and aim to enhance our strategic needs analysis work and 
collective economic data management practices, as valuable groundwork.

5. Consequently, the GEGJC Senior Officer Group (SOG) has been considering 
various options for taking this objective forward, which are outlined in more detail 
later in the paper. 

6. Meanwhile, the CCN has recently published a report about ‘County Economies’, 
further consideration of which it was suggested would serve well as a useful 
springboard to a broader piece of data analysis work.

CCN Commission – ‘Understanding County Economies: Analysis 
to Inform the Industrial Strategy and the Devolution Debate’

1. The CCN, which represents every English shire county council and 10 county 
unitary authorities, commissioned Oxford Economics to undertake a 
comprehensive review of county economies. The interim findings of this work 
were presented at the CCN Executive Committee, the ACCE Spring Seminar 
and officially launched at the LGA Conference last month. 

2. The report is considered the first in depth economic review of county economies 
as a cohort and matches the scope and ambition of work previously undertaken 
by the core and key cities. Alongside CCN data, there is also data included 
across a broad suit of economic indicators by authority. 

3. CCN view it as a particularly important time to undertake this work, given the 
start of the process of exit from the European Union, a focus on economic 
stability and inclusion, next steps for the Government’s Industrial Strategy and 
uncertainty around the devolution agenda. Furthermore, with a new Government 
still bedding in, strategic networks such as this feel there is a window of 
opportunity to shape these emerging agendas. 

4. CCN maintain this new analysis will be central to demonstrating the key role 
counties could play in economic and devolution agendas going forward. For 
example, Oxford Economics have calculated that devolution of tax and spending 

Page 36



to counties could save c£36bn over 5 years and reinvestment of some of this 
saving in economic growth activities could increase GVA by c£26bn.  

Report Findings
5. The report, Understanding County Economies, indicates the country’s growth is 

set to slow to below 2% each year over the next decade, but they argue 
devolving fiscal powers to England’s county authorities, who represent half of the 
nation’s population, could re-balance the economy, make a success of the 
Industrial Strategy and help England cope better with any Brexit aftershocks.

6. Under Oxford Economics’ modelling, if county areas were given full devolution of 
public spending plus tax retention and raising powers, they could attract jobs and 
growth to rural areas, generating:

7. Over 1million new jobs over the next ten years (CCN projections)

8. An extra £26.3bn generated for the national economy over a five-year period
9. Public sector savings of £11.7bn per year over a five-year period 
10.The study shows that county areas make up 41% of the English economy; 

delivering £600bn in GVA and account for 44% of the nation’s employment, 
contributing significantly more than the country’s biggest cities and generating a 
net surplus for the Treasury.  

11.This showcases their potential if a radical programme of fiscal devolution is 
granted for county areas, such as growth powers to create infrastructure and 
retaining a proportion of income tax, property tax, and council tax.

12.However, the study also highlights county economies’ weaknesses, some of 
which members will recognise as being relevant to Gloucestershire, namely low 
productivity levels, concentrations of ‘low skilled’ jobs, house prices 6% above 
the national average, areas with low concentrations of high growth sectors and a 
high proportion of export industries which could potentially be affected by Brexit.

13.Conclusion
14.CCN argues this report is crucial in the context of informing the government’s 

emerging Industrial Strategy, which whilst welcomed by county leaders, is 
considered currently too focused on the urban city regions. County leaders are 
urging the government to give county areas a greater focus in the final strategy if 
it wants to achieve its aims, especially over raising the nation’s productivity 
levels  

15.Appendix 1 provides a useful summary of the ‘Understanding County 
Economies’ report which has been prepared by the GCC Strategic Needs 
Analysis team. However, as the CCN report contains limited statistical 
information at county level, this summary is based on comparisons between the 
CCN area and England, although where possible equivalent figures for 
Gloucestershire are included in the accompanying text boxes to aid comparison.

16.The summary paper highlights the challenges facing CCN members such as 
Gloucestershire and outlines that the report argues that in order to address these 
issues, there is a need for the emerging national Industrial Strategy to focus on 

Page 37



county areas complemented by a radical programme of devolution to allow such 
areas to achieve spending economies of scale that would strengthen their fiscal 
position.  

Economic Data Collection/Utilisation in Gloucestershire 

Current Position
1. Routine economic analysis and maintenance of core data sets, in 

Gloucestershire, is undertaken by the GCC Strategic Needs Analysis team. 
Historically, this function has been supported through the Gloucestershire 
Labour Market Intelligence Unit (GLMIU) and Gloucestershire Economic 
Partnership/Development Agency with financial contributions from public sector 
partners. Public Health has become the principal policy driver and main funder of 
this team latterly however.

2. Unlike other data sets which may be held directly within the public sector, 
sourcing economic data has long remained a challenge due to data ownership 
factors. Consequently, key data sets largely have to be purchased and the range 
of follow on analysis will invariably be constrained by resource limitations, 
including analyst’s time. In addition, the growing public health agenda has 
necessitated a particular focus which has had an impact on the time/resources 
able to be devoted purely to economic baseline analysis. This issue has been 
compounded by the loss of the SW Observatory1 which served as a valuable 
regional data repository resourced through the RDA. However when RDAs were 
abolished back in 2012, this asset base disappeared almost overnight.  

3. Baseline data collection activity and bespoke economic trend analysis, tracking 
and reporting is still undertaken by the GCC SNA team and is resourced by 
public sector partners, plus the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(Community Safety focus). In main, this activity utilises national data sets from 
the Office of National Statistics (ONS), complemented by a number of 
‘purchased’ resources, data package and tools, such as Labour Insights2, the 
Local Economic Forecasting Model3, customer segmentation and service 
accessibility modelling tools.    

Public Data Sharing Platform - INFORM
4. The principal public access portal and repository for this information and analysis 

is INFORM which is a available on the GCC website -  

1 The South West Observatory was a jointly owned intelligence resource which pulled together research, 
resources and analysis from its network of individuals and organisations working across policy themes 
and from different local areas in the South West
2 Labour Insight is a data source providing national and regional real time labour market intelligence 
3 LEFM is a custom built computer package designed to enable users to produce their own economic projections for 
local areas within the UK. It aims to provide a more complete economic picture of the local area covering various key 
economic indicators and a number of labour market indicators as well as employment

Page 38



https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/viewpage.aspx?c=page&page=Economy&c
ookieCheck=true&JScript=1

5. ‘Inform Gloucestershire’ brings together MAIDeN/Inform and the iJSNA on a web 
based information platform. The web site houses the ‘Understanding 
Gloucestershire’ Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA), other analyses 
produced by the GCC Strategic Needs Analysis Team and key facts about the 
county, as well as linking to useful sources of information about Gloucestershire. 
The Economic section of the website features reports and data that illustrate the 
state of the economy and business conditions in Gloucestershire. This includes 
high level analysis, monthly unemployment and business activity bulletins, key 
sector snapshots and links to other recommended sources.

6. Further consultancy input and market intelligence is available externally including 
detailed business development metrics. These information sources and 
consultancy services may have the potential to add value to local assessments, 
but some merely provide a ‘collation’ service of publicly available data, so there 
is always a need to look beyond the sales pitch when considering offers of 
support from the wider market place. However, with the benefit of more 
comprehensive review, there could be a case for selective commissioning, in 
due course to complement ‘in house’ capability.  

7. In light of the brief discussion about economic data and growth delivery 
performance management at the last committee meeting in June, the GEGJC 
Senior Officer Group (SOG) has been considering options for improving the 
current position forward. This has been complemented by work associated with 
the recent formation of the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board which 
is also looking at KPIs, statistical baselines and general management 
information to demonstrate progress within the employment and skills agenda.

Recommended Actions
1. Offer a presentation to the next GEGJC meeting at the end of November 

(29th) to improve awareness of and in time, the range of information held on 
INFORM

2. Undertake a stocktake of the core data sets held locally, the nature of routine 
analysis underway and the range and quality of additional economic 
intelligence available, including detailed commissions, across the wider 
partnership 

3. Assess known information/data gaps and consider opportunities to improve 
the baseline position

4. Review current approaches to the monitoring of housing and employment 
land supply to improve resilience and support the drive for greater co-
ordination of strategic planning work

5. Establish a ‘Commissioning/Reference Group’, operating under the GEGJC, 
to co-ordinate activity, augment the baseline position, ensure consistency of 
data collection through INFORM as the recognised central repository and 
enable objective review and joint commissioning capability, ensuring new 
commissions add value and not ‘drain’ central GCC/partner resource  

Page 39

https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/viewpage.aspx?c=page&page=Economy&cookieCheck=true&JScript=1
https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/viewpage.aspx?c=page&page=Economy&cookieCheck=true&JScript=1


6. Task the Reference Group with developing a forward strategy plus resource 
plan for discussion with GEGJC, serving as the core commissioning group for  
any additional work required.

Risk Assessment
The greatest risk associated with this area of work is that partners are unable to 
sustain enough resource to ensure the maintenance of a robust economic baseline 
in the County. This will have an impact on the ability of the wider partnership to 
inform future funding bid/investment strategy activity and growth/service delivery 
performance management functions.  

Officer Advice

Outlined above as recommended next steps.

Equalities considerations

There are no equalities considerations directly associated with this decision, for the 
time being.

Consultation feedback

N/A

Performance Management/follow-up
N/A at this stage.

Page 40



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire’s Population 
average annual growth

2008-2017 – 0.7%
2018-2027 – 0.5%

Gloucestershire’s employment 
average annual growth

2008-2017 – 1.0%
2018-2027 – 0.3%

GEGJC -  6th September 2017
Agenda Item 6 – Appendix 1 

A Summary of “Understanding County Economies: Analysis to Inform the Industrial 
Strategy and the Devolution Debate - A Report for the County Councils Network”

Strategic Needs Analysis Team – August 2017

This document summarises “Understanding County Economies: Analysis to Inform the Industrial Strategy 
and the Devolution Debate – A Report for the County Councils Network”.  The CCN report contains limited 
information at county level meaning this summary is based on comparisons between the CCN area and 
England, where possible equivalent figures for Gloucestershire are included in the accompanying text 
boxes.

Purpose of the report
The report explores the economies of the County Councils Network (CCN) areai to inform the government’s 
Industrial Strategy and offers evidence of how devolution might enable faster economic growth.  The Industrial 
Strategy Green Paper focuses on city economies and the role of city region devolution. However, the CCN report 
stresses the need for an equally compelling role and vision for counties in the nation’s growth given that:

 47% of England’s population live in CCN areas
 44% of England’s employment is in CCN areas 
 41% of England’s GVA is generated in CCN areas
 51% of England’s manufacturing output is from CCN areas. 

Key Findings 

Population 
Over the last decade the population of the CCN area has been growing (average 
growth of 0.7% per year) but at a slower rate than England as a whole (0.8% per 
year). Looking forward population growth across the CCN area is forecast to 
average 0.5% a year over the decade to 2027. This rate of growth is below that 
experienced in recent years and below the rate of 0.6% forecast for England as a 
whole.  

CCN areas are also facing a demographic challenge, despite positive net inward migration, a slower rate of growth 
for the working age population than for the total population has increased the dependency rate in CCN areas. 
Furthermore the dependency rate is likely to worsen – there will be fewer inward migrants of working, but a 
continuation of migration of people at or approaching retirement age. These trends create challenges for the CCN 
economy, with a larger population but a smaller share of the population of working age. CCN economies will 
therefore depend increasingly on ways to boost economic growth other than simply through rising population 
numbers. 

Employment
Over the last decade employment in the CCN area increased by 0.8% per year 
this was the same as England as a whole. Looking forward forecasts suggest 
employment growth for the CCN area will slow to an average 0.4% a year over 
the next decade, this is below the rate of growth for England (0.5%). 

Page 43



Gloucestershire’s GVA average 
annual growth

2008-2017 – 1.3%
2018-2027 – 1.7%

% of employment in 
manufacturing 

Gloucestershire – 10.8%
CCN area – 8.7%

England 7.3% 

Gloucestershire’s productivity 
average annual growth

2008-2017 – 0.3%
2018-2027 – 1.4%

% of workers in professional 
occupations

Gloucestershire – 19.7%
CCN area – 18.2%

England 20.2% 

GVA 
GVA growth over the last 10 years in the CCN area has averaged 1.1%, which is 
below the English average of 1.3% per year, this partly reflects a very strong 
performance from London’s economy.  Over the coming decade forecasts 
suggest GVA growth in the CCN area will improve averaging 1.8% annually 
compared with 2.0% for England. 

Industrial structure 
The industrial structure of the CCN economy is quite different to the English 
average. The CCN area has a higher concentration of both employment and GVA 
in manufacturing, construction, agriculture and wholesale & retail than is found 
across England as a whole. By contrast, the finance & insurance, administration 
& support, information & communications and professional services are under-
represented in the CCN area. 

Looking forward the biggest boosts to GVA growth in the CCN area are expected to  come from real estate, 
wholesale & retail and professional services. Information & communication will also provide sizeable impetus to GVA 
growth in the CCN area, although less than the English average, while manufacturing contributes more to growth in 
the CCN are than we expect it to do nationally. 

In employment terms job losses are expected in the manufacturing sector, reflecting strong productivity gains in 
manufacturing. By contrast we expect professional & administrative services to contribute the most to jobs growth. 
Construction, wholesale & retail and health & social work will also see strong job creation in the CCN area in the next 
decade. 

As a result over the coming decade we expect to see a shift in the sectoral employment structure of the CCN area. 
This will comprise a movement towards an economy more focused on professional, scientific & technical and 
administration & support service activities, coupled with a decline in manufacturing employment due to high 
productivity gains in the sector.  

Productivity
Over the last 10 years growth in output per head in the CCN area has averaged 
0.3% per year, which is below the national rate of 0.5%. Differences in the 
industrial composition of the CCN area’s economy compared to the English 
average help to explain the difference in the overall productivity gap. The CCN 
area has low concentrations of employment in some of the sectors with the 
highest productivity in England, namely real estate, financial services and 
information & communications. It is also over-represented in some of the lower value-added sectors such as 
agriculture. The CCN area also has lower productivity in all but two sectors (real estate and agriculture), compared 
with the same sectors at the England level.   

Forecasts assume a gentle improvement in productivity performance, with a growth in output per head of 1.4% a 
year in the CCN area over the period 2018 to 2028 and 1.4% across England. Productivity growth will be strongest for 
those areas with a greater specialisation in the fastest growing industries namely information & communications and 
financial & business services. 

Skills and Occupations 
The CCN area has an under-representation in professional occupations. This is 
linked to the sectoral structure, with a smaller share of professional, scientific & 
technical sector businesses in the CCCN area as a while. Instead the CCN area’s 
occupational profile is skewed towards ‘skilled trades’, reflecting the high 
proportion in manufacturing and in construction. As the CCN economies 

Page 44



Gloucestershire’s ratio of house 
prices to earnings

8.9

Gloucestershire’s fiscal balance

Revenue - £6.6 billion
Expenditure - £4.7 billion 

Fiscal balance - £1.9 billion

Gloucestershire’s estimated 
fiscal balance after savings 

Low estimate - £2.0 billion
High estimate - £2.1 billion 
Fiscal balance - £1.9 billion

gradually evolve towards increased focus on high value added services and less employment in manufacturing these 
occupational profiles will need to change  

Exports 
Manufacturing accounted for more than 71% of exports in the CCN area above the England average of 57% and 
highlighting the importance of the sector to the CCN area’s performance. Conversely information & communication, 
and finance & business services together accounted for 19% of CCN’s exports compared to the England average of 
29%. Looking forward the challenge for CCN economies is to transition towards greater reliance on high-value added 
service sector activities, alongside more high value-added manufacturing. Although in the short-term the associated 
productivity gains may appear to be negative for employment prospects, in the longer term they are essential to 
growing the business base and hence employment overall. 

Housing Affordability
In 2016 the average house price in the CCN area was almost 8.9 times average 
annual earnings, this is slightly highland than the England average of 8.2. 
Population growth over the next decade in the CCN area is likely to mean 
additional pressure on house prices. This may generate particularly acute 
affordability issues, depending in part of how the supply of housing evolves in 
these areas. Affordability impacts directly on labour mobility and on other factors critical to competitiveness.  

Fiscal Estimates
In 2015/16 the CCN area is estimated to have collectively generated £255 billion 
in revenue for the national exchequer, this equates to £9,900 per person which 
was marginally higher than the England average of £9,860 per person. 

Total identifiable expenditure in the CCN area was estimated to be £201billion in 
2015/16, this equates to £7,800 per person, over 6% lower than the average for 
England as a whole.

Overall it is estimated that the CCN area runs on a fiscal surplus with £54 billion more raised in tax revenue than was 
spent on public services. On a per person basis the CCN area contributed £2,100 more in tax revenue than was 
allocated in public expenditure. 

Possible Devolution Savings 
There are reasons to believe that greater fiscal autonomy might allow the CCN 
area to achieve spending economies of scale that would allow a strengthening of 
its fiscal position. Work undertaken by Ernst and Young looked at the savings 
that have been attributed to whole place community budgets as an example of 
how better co-ordination between central and local budgets could result in cost 
savings.  Based on estimated levels of expenditure in 2015/16 and assuming the 
potential savings are fully realised they calculate collectively the CCN are could save between £6.2 billion and £11.7 
billion in public spending in a single year. If half of these savings are returned to the Treasury and half are retained 
by the CCN areas and invested in projects to strengthen local economic growth, this could have signification 
implications. The impact of CCN areas investing £5.8 billion in interventions designed to boost economic growth 
might increase their combined GVA by £26.3 billion by 2022, which would be equivalent to 530,000 jobs. 

Conclusion
The report outlines the challenges facing CCN members such as Gloucestershire these include; an ageing population, 
weaker employment growth, higher concentration of manufacturing which is forecast to decline, low concentrations 
of high growth sectors, low productivity levels and house prices above the national average.  The report argues that 
in order to address these issues, there is a need for the Industrial Strategy to focus on county areas and for a radical 

Page 45



programme of devolution to allow areas to achieve spending economies of scale that would strengthen their fiscal 
position.  

Further information
A copy of the full report can be found here: http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unleash-the-power-of-
englands-counties-leaders-urge/ 

i CCN area includes: Buckinghamshire CC, Cambridgeshire CC; Cumbria CC; Derbyshire CC, Devon CC, Dorset CC, East Sussex CC, 
Gloucestershire CC, Hampshire CC, Hertfordshire CC, Kent CC, Lancashire CC, Leicestershire CC;  Lincolnshire CC, Norfolk CC, 
North Yorkshire CC, Northamptonshire CC, Nottinghamshire CC, Oxfordshire CC, Somerset CC, Staffordshire CC, Suffolk CC, 
Surrey CC, Warwickshire CC, West Sussex CC, Worcestershire CC, Central Bedfordshire UA, Cheshire East UA, Cheshire West and 
Chester UA, Cornwall UA, Durham County UA, East Riding of Yorkshire UA, Herefordshire UA, Northumberland UA, Shropshire 
UA and Wiltshire UA.  

Page 46

http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unleash-the-power-of-englands-counties-leaders-urge/
http://www.countycouncilsnetwork.org.uk/unleash-the-power-of-englands-counties-leaders-urge/


Strategic Planning Collaboration in Gloucestershire AGENDA NO: 8

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Report author Mike Dawson 
Chair of Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee Senior 
Officer Group
Tel: 01684 272001

  E-mail: mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Background documents  Leadership Gloucestershire Report: Strategic Planning Collaboration
 Inter- Authority Agreement dated 4th September 2014 relating to Joint 

Committee.

Location/Contact for 
inspection of background 
documents

Attached.

Main consultees Leadership Gloucestershire Partners

Planned dates N/A

Purpose of report To receive a proposal from Leadership Gloucestershire, for strategic 
planning collaboration in Gloucestershire. 

Recommendations

1. To approve the proposal of Leadership Gloucestershire to create a 
Strategic Planning Coordinator post on the basis of the funding 
arrangements set out in paragraph 2 of this report. 

2. That a further report detailing the recruitment arrangements, the 
terms of employment of the post and any changes to the 
Committee’s governance arrangements be provided to the 
Committee at its meeting on 29 November for consideration.

Reasons for recommendations
To commence the work to improve strategic planning collaboration 
throughout the County as an area of responsibility of this Committee.

Resource Implications Funding associated with the provision of the Strategic Planning 
Coordinator post has been agreed by Leadership Gloucestershire on 27 
July 2017. There will be further funding requirements arising from joint 
working arrangements. These will be reported for approval as they arise. 
There may also be employment related financial implications which will 
be reported to the next meeting if the recommendations are agreed.

Background 

1. Leadership Gloucestershire first recognised the advantages in cross county strategic planning 

collaboration within the Gloucestershire devolution bid in September 2015. It was accepted that 

an additional shared resource would be needed to support this work and on 27 July 2017, 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8

mailto:mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Leadership Gloucestershire considered a report on this matter (see Appendix 1). The notes of 

the Leadership Gloucestershire meeting are also appended to this report.

The Current Position

2. Leadership Gloucestershire’s resolutions included the following:

1) To support the creation of a Strategic Planning Coordinator role;

2) To fund the post at £70,000 per annum as follows:

 £5,000 be provided by each District Council and the LEP

 County Council providing matching funding of £35,000

 With recruitment costs to be funded separately, but shared between the partners 

at the same rate of apportionment as the annual cost of the post.

3) To request officers to open a dialogue with the DCLG to explore the potential for a pilot 

Strategic Development Statement for Gloucestershire.

3. On 4th September 2014 the councils comprising this Joint Committee entered into an Inter- 

Authority Agreement (extracts included at Appendix 2). This Agreement includes a provision 

enabling the Committee to appoint a Senior Manager whose duties and functions shall be 

agreed by this Committee. It is proposed that the Strategic Planning Coordinator role, as 

recommended by Leadership Gloucestershire is a post appointed by this Committee.

4. Also, the constitution of this Committee sets out its broad responsibility in respect of growth 

coordination in the county and this provides the Committee a formal general responsibility for 

this strategic planning collaborative work. The Terms of Reference of the Constitution 

specifically include the following:

‘3.2 To facilitate and enable collaboration between the local authorities on economic 

development and associated activities.

 3.8 To ensure a co-ordinated approach to and liaise with the:-

        Local Transport Board 

 County Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Group

 LEP Investment Panel

 EU Structural and Investment  Fund Board

 Business Rates Pool Arrangements

and other relevant Groups/Boards as the respective constituent Councils 

may determine from time to time’.

Page 48



5. The Inter- Authority Agreement, therefore, includes sufficient powers for this Committee to 

appoint a Strategic Planning Coordinator. The Committee may, however, wish to consider the 

extent of any delegations to that post holder.

6.  It is recommended, therefore, that the Committee approves the resolutions set out in this report 

as proposed by Leadership Gloucestershire in order to progress the work under its remit. 

7. If Members approve the recommendation, a further report detailing the recruitment 

arrangements, the terms of employment of the post and any changes to the Committee’s 

governance arrangements be provided to the Committee at its meeting on 29 November for 

consideration.

Options

8. Different options for the provision of a shared planning resource have been considered by 

Leadership Gloucestershire prior to the approval of the proposals in paragraph 2 and as 

annexed.

Risk assessment  

9. There are risks associated in not collaborating effectively to deliver the future vision for growth 

in the County: these include unnecessary costs associated with evidence base collation and a 

disjointed approach to planning cooperation. The provision of a shared resource will assist in 

the mitigation of these risks.

Officer advice

10. None at this stage but HR, Legal and Financial implications will be included in the further report 

to Committee.

Equalities considerations

11. There are no equalities issues for consideration at this point.

Consultation feedback
 

12. None

Page 49



Performance management/follow-up 

13. Chief Executives/Heads of Paid Service and the Senior Officer Group will work to implement 

the proposals in detail and will include relevant performance management and other 

performance indicators in the further report to Committee.

Page 50



APPENDIX 1

Report to Leadership Gloucestershire- 27th July 2017

Strategic Planning Collaboration in Gloucestershire

1. Introduction

1.1.1 At its meeting on 16 February 2017 Leadership Gloucestershire (LG) agreed that there was a 
need to address resource weakness around strategic planning across the county.  At the 
meeting, there was no consensus on the best way to address this issue and members requested 
that the officer working group (OWG), including the GFirstLEP, consider the best approach and 
report back to the next meeting.

1.1.2 Proposals to address the issues were considered by a meeting of senior officers, including the 
Chief Executive of GFirst LEP on 12 May 2017. At this meeting, a way forward was agreed which 
has subsequently been the subject of consultation between all partners. The proposal is set out 
in this report and includes improved governance arrangements and a shared officer resource. 
The report also sets out proposed funding arrangements in respect of the shared officer 
resource.

2. Strategic Planning Collaboration

2.1 The Gloucestershire devolution bid set out four areas for strategic planning collaboration, these 
are as follows:

1 Accelerate delivery of housing and employment growth in the county
2 Coordinate local plan/core strategy review timing to allow more cross- county 

effective duty to cooperate discussions and a whole county approach to strategic 
planning decisions.

3 Support this coordination and achieve cost savings through the development of a 
single strategic planning evidence base; and

4 Produce as an outcome of the common plan review process broad allocations for 
housing and economic growth across all districts.

2.2 The OWG reconsidered these areas and concluded that although there was still a need to 
collaborate in respect of local plan/core strategy timing, aligning review timetables as set out in 
item 2 above was not going to be possible given the differences in existing plan programmes. 
Therefore, following the review of the devolution bid list the group felt that the issues facing the 
growth of Gloucestershire now fall into two parts:

1.  Delivery of current plans
2. Setting out and working to deliver a future vision that underpin

statutory planning processes.  (This will include effective collaboration in generating 
the necessary shared evidence base).

Page 51



2.4 Delivery of Current Plans

2.4.1. The challenge in this context is the capacity to deliver the unprecedented levels of growth within 
the timescales set out in the respective development plans.   This challenge relates both to the 
resource within councils to manage the administration of the planning process but also to ensure 
that the planning process is adding value to the quality and speed of the outcome rather than 
simply performing a legally compliant process.

2.4.2.  In addition to the individual planning resource of each authority, there is a shared role to be played 
in coordinating and securing funding for strategic infrastructure, including managing a 
Gloucestershire discussion with organisations such as the HCA, Highways England and 
GFirstLEP. The work would also include engaging locally on cross boundary issues and future 
allocation of CIL to deliver strategic infrastructure. However, this role should not replace or 
duplicate the discipline involved in assessing the deliverability of sites as part of local plan 
formation.   

2.5 Future Strategic Planning

2.5.1. The key challenge and the largest area where there is need for collaboration is the development of 
the future plans for the county which aim to deliver a raised level of growth ambition. The output 
of this work will be a high-level strategic spatial planning document agreed by all planning 
authorities and GFirstLEP setting out the broad areas of future housing and employment growth 
in Gloucestershire which can then advise the production of more detailed core strategies/local 
plans. 

2.5.2. This document will be the shared overarching spatial plan for the Gloucestershire vision. To be 
successful, it will need to be created using a common evidence base which will not only achieve 
economies of scale, but also ensure that the plan can be owned and supported by all partners. 
The principles of this approach will require the formal agreement of all local plan authorities and 
GFirstLEP.

2.6 The OWG have concluded that there remains the need for a resource to support the delivery of 
existing plans and to take responsibility for leading the creation of the high level strategic 
planning document for Gloucestershire. The latter area of work will be the most challenging and 
be the major part of the responsibility of this resource, critically work will be required with all 
partners to get formal sign up from planning authorities and GFirstLEP and buy in from other 
stakeholders. Work covered will include strategic alignment on a Gloucestershire Objectively 
Assessed Housing Need, employment growth and key infrastructure.

2.7 The recent housing white paper contained a proposal for the provision of ‘Strategic Development 
Statements’ (SDS) which would provide the cross boundary high level plan function. As the white 
paper indicated, an SDS would be especially useful in a combined authority area. If the 
proposals contained in this report are accepted, it could be useful for officers to open dialogue 
with the DCLG to explore the possibility of piloting this proposal in Gloucestershire as a two tier 
area.

2.8 Given the importance and strategic nature of this work and the need to ensure the full 
engagement of all partners existing governance arrangements require amendment to ensure that 
the work is properly supported and considered. This is particularly important to provide an 
appropriate framework for existing officers and any new shared resource to operate within.

3. Strategic Planning Governance

3.1 The OWG has looked at other models of governance and consulted with colleagues in the West 
of England Partnership (WEP). The following governance proposal is similar to that of WEP, 
amended to fit Gloucestershire structures.

3.2 Detailed decision responsibility lies with each individual planning authority and this will not 
change.  However, there will be a need, as strategic planning collaboration progresses, for a 

Page 52



mechanism to allow for joint decisions. In future, there may be other mechanisms established to 
do this, but at the moment this role could be fulfilled by the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Joint Committee (GEGJC), which includes GFirstLEP. However, it is likely that the GEGJC 
constitution would require amendment to permit decisions relating to planning.  
 

3.3 LG would act as a Partnership Board allowing engagement with all stakeholders at senior and 
political level and thus its function remains unaltered.

3.4 Given the nature of strategic planning, a new forum is required where Leaders of planning 
authorities and GFirstLEP are able to consider developing work confidentially. It is proposed to 
establish a new Leaders Board for this purpose.

3.5 Supporting officer structures can currently remain as at present, although there will need to be a 
commitment from each authority to ensure that strategic planning resources support the new role 
and work effectively in partnership to deliver the shared objectives.
 

3.6 The proposed governance structure is shown indicatively at appendix 1, these are simply an 
amendment of existing structures to include the new Leaders Board. If the proposals in this 
report are approved, further work will be undertaken to implement this in detail as this project 
progresses.

3.7 Detailed responsibility for strategic planning therefore remains with the local planning authorities, 
this report is simply proposing a joint resource to support more effective future planning for the 
County. This will be especially useful in the light of forthcoming ambitious plans relating to ‘2050’. 
All other local governance arrangements for existing plan delivery remain unchanged at the 
moment. The post holder would need to work with current plan delivery governance 
arrangements where additional coordination is beneficial. 

4. The Strategic Planning Coordinator (SPC) Role

4.1 As set out in section 2, the SPC will map out progress of all existing strategic sites, support 
current delivery and work to overcome infrastructure barriers. In this capacity, the role is that of a 
programme manager supported by and working with existing officer structures. The role will 
report to the various elements of the member governance structure as required.
 

4.2 The SPC will champion and lead the development of, a high level future growth document for 
Gloucestershire and work with Local Plan teams to translate this into an agreed and adopted 
Gloucestershire Spatial Development Strategy that is supported by all the Gloucestershire 
authorities. 

4.3 This is a strategic role which will require the ability to navigate effectively through national and 
local political priorities and assist partner bodies through engagement with members, key officers 
and wider strategic partner organisations to reach consensus.  The role will need to be seen and 
operate as an independent shared resource dedicated to achieving the outcome of a shared 
Gloucestershire vision. The OWG have concluded, having reviewed the WEP experience, that 
the SPC should be a full-time post, but that any appointment should be made for a fixed three 
year period, with a review after two years.

4.4 This role at this level is both strategic and technical in nature and would suit an experienced 
senior planning professional. The post holder will work alongside existing planning teams and the 
GFirstLEP. Senior officer support and guidance will be provided by the GEGJC Senior Officer 
Group (which includes GFirstLEP membership) and the Chief Executives/Heads of Paid Service 
Group. 

4.5 LG Members have previously recognised that the role needs to be seen to act ‘independently 
from local interest’. To achieve this, the post could be ‘hosted’ by an organisation with a county-
wide view of planning and growth. Should the proposals contained in the report be approved, 
chief officers will work together to agree the best way forward in respect of the most appropriate 
host organisation and appointment arrangements.

Page 53



4.5 The post will be aimed to be at district council head of planning service level. It is anticipated that 
the total cost of the post will not exceed £70,000.

5. Funding the SPC Post

5.1 At the last LG meeting it was proposed that Gloucestershire County Council would meet 50% of 
the cost of the post if the district planning authorities would meet the remaining 50%. This 
arrangement does not include GFirstLEP. It is therefore proposed that the annual cost is met as 
follows for the duration of the post:
Gloucestershire County Council - 50% £35,000
District Councils - one seventh of 50% £  5,000
GFirstLEP – one seventh of 50% £  5,000
Total £70,000

3. Recommendations e.g.

(1) To agree the proposals in respect of the creation of the Strategic Planning Coordinator post 
as set out in this report.

(2) To approve the funding arrangements to support the Strategic Planning Coordinator post as 
set out in section 5 of the report.

(3) Officers draft the required detailed governance arrangements and report these to the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee for approval.

(4) Arrangements are made to complete the recruitment to and hosting arrangements of the post 
of Strategic Planning Coordinator. 

(5) Officers open dialogue with the DCLG to explore the potential to pilot a Strategic 
Development Statement for Gloucestershire.

Officer Working Group: Barry Wyatt (Stroud DC), Tracey Crews (Cheltenham BC), Nigel Riglar 
(Gloucestershire County Council), Mike Dawson (Tewkesbury BC) 
Leadership Gloucestershire Sponsor - Mike Dawson 

Page 54



Page 55



Extract of the draft notes of Leadership Gloucestershire 27th July 2017
Strategic Planning

In presenting the report, Mike Dawson noted that the role of the Strategic Planning Coordinator fell into 
two areas: co-ordination as new development plans were put together and pulling together a shared 
evidence base to support spatial planning in the county. The role would not impact on the autonomy of 
individual planning authorities.  He believed that it might be worthwhile for the county to explore with the 
DCLG the potential for a Strategic Development Statement for Gloucestershire.

 
He explained that the terms of reference of the Economic Growth Joint Committee would need to be 
adjusted to cover the governance arrangements around the new role.  This would include setting up a 
Strategic Planning Leaders’ Board to provide direction and monitor progress. 

 
It was suggested that £5,000 be provided by each District Council and the LEP with the County Council 
providing matching funding of £35,000.  Total annual funding would therefore amount to £70,000 for the 
duration of the post but this would not cover the one-off recruitment costs.  These costs would be shared 
between the partners at the same rate of apportionment as the annual cost of the post.

 
There was support for the approach suggested.  Partners were anxious that links were made between 
spatial planning, the Strategic Economic Plan and Vision 2050.   

 
Further discussions would take place on the hosting arrangements. David Owen indicated that the LEP 
was prepared to host the new post.

 
It was agreed:

i) To support the creation of a Strategic Planning Coordinator role.  
ii) To fund the post in line with the recommendations in the report.
iii) Recruitment costs to be funded separately and shared between the partners at the 

same rate of apportionment as the annual cost of the post.
iv) To request officers to provide a report to the Economic Growth Joint Committee setting 

out the detailed governance arrangements.
v) To make arrangements to complete the recruitment and hosting arrangements for the 

new post.
vi) To request officers to open a dialogue with the DCLG to explore the potential for a pilot 

Strategic Development Statement for Gloucestershire.
 

A report from the officer working group would be presented at the next meeting on progress with 
recruitment and hosting of the post.
Action – Mike Dawson

APPENDIX 2

Extracts from s101 Inter- Authority Agreement dated 4th September 2014

8. THE SENIOR MANAGER

8.1 In the event that the Partner Authorities agree to the appointment of a Senior Manager 
the recruitment process shall be determined by the GEGJC.

8.2 The duties and functions delegated to the Senior Manager shall be agreed by the 
GEGJC in accordance with the scheme of delegation adopted by the GEGJC.

Page 56



SCHEDULE 1: TERMS OF REFERENCE/CONSTITUTION

3.0 Functions of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 

3.1 Each of the Councils empowers the Joint Committee to discharge on their behalf the power 
to do anything it considers likely to achieve the promotion or improvement of the economic 
wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire together with such additional functions as the 
respective constituent Councils may determine from time to time.

3.2 To facilitate and enable collaboration between the local authorities on economic 
development and associated activities.  

3.3 In conjunction with the GFirst LEP Board, to formulate and agree the Gloucestershire 
Strategic Economic Plan GFirst LEP Plan (and Implementation Plans), the GFirst  LEP EU 
Structural and Investment Fund Strategy, and other plans and strategies related to 
economic growth , and to work jointly to ensure their delivery

3.4 To lobby and carry out other activities that help achieve the promotion or improvement of the 
economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire.

3.5 To promote the vision contained in the Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan and to 
make recommendations to the GFirst LEP Board on any matter relating to the economic 
wellbeing of Gloucestershire.

3.6 To have insight and the opportunity to review the GFirst LEP Board’s activities and consider 
any further measures necessary to strengthen the relationship with the GFirst LEP Board.

3.7 To seek the allocation of resources to achieve the promotion or improvement of the 
economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire 

3.8 To ensure a co-ordinated approach to and liaise with the:-
 Local Transport Board 
 County Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Group
 LEP Investment Panel
 EU Structural and Investment  Fund Board
 Business Rates Pool Arrangements
and other relevant Groups/Boards as the respective constituent Councils may determine 
from time to time.

3.9 To provide political and democratic accountability by:

 Monitoring the delivery of each priority, plan, project or programme included in the 
SEP and by ensuring that action is taken to review and prepare revised action 
plans as necessary

 Monitoring the annual SEP budget
 Reviewing the Annual SEP Report of GFirst LEP
 Advising and making recommendations to the Accountable Body. 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



GEGJC Report – 6th September 2016

GIIP Update and Mapping – Demonstration

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
Report author Jonathan Medlin

Tel no.: 01452 425013

Email: jonathan.medlin@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Background 
documents

GEGJC Infrastructure Investment Pipeline (GIIP) 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

As listed above or on request from the report author.

Main consultees A wide range of public and private sector representatives have 
provided input to the various Council and GFirst LEP processes that 
have informed the development of the Gloucestershire Infrastructure 
Investment Pipeline.

Planned dates 6th September – update and demonstration of mapping
September to October – finalise mapping and live testing
November – Mapping data available to GEGJC.

Purpose of report To update on, and demonstrate, the mapping of GIIP.

Recommendations The Joint Committee resolves to: 
1. Note the information provided in this paper as an update to 

mapping the GIIP to assist in decisions about 
Gloucestershire’s growth related strategic infrastructure 
priorities.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To enable the GEGJC to have a clear understanding of the progress 
made against the GIIP and agree new project additions.

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct resource implications associated with this update 
paper.  Additions and changes to the GIIP will necessitate small 
mapping amendments following the relevant approvals.

Background

1 The GIIP comprises a list of infrastructure requirements brought together across 
the whole of Gloucestershire. It is reviewed, refreshed and updated on a regular 
basis to take account of emerging infrastructure requirements and funding 
opportunities. The GIIP is a live document which is actively managed through the 
GEGJC Senior Officer Group.

2 In list form the GIIP is a useful document for monitoring the infrastructure 
pipeline.  However, decisions relating to categorisation, prioritisation, additions 
and changes could be usefully informed through a spatial representation of the 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9

mailto:jonathan.medlin@gloucestershire.gov.uk


items.  The mapping exercise supplements the GIIP.  It will allow interactions and 
connections to be visualised.

Mapping Exercise and Demo

3 All data from GIIP is available (see GIIP update item on this agenda) and 
updated through the GEGJC. It is straightforward to plot most of the infrastructure 
on the GIIP.  Once plotted, underlying GIIP data from the GIIP can be linked to 
the map, and then can be interrogated spatially.  It is possible to analyse 
infrastructure projects geographically, thematically, according to category, or 
temporally.  

4 It is also possible to interrogate the data to isolate certain attributes.  For 
example, if we want to know all infrastructure projects which are likely to be 
funded in part or full by the Growth Deal, layers can be switched on or off 
accordingly.  Similarly, we could isolate by category (A to E or combinations).  
Figure 1 shows an example area with Categories A and B only in view.

Figure 1: Map Showing Only GIIP Categories A and B

5 Data is mapped within ARCGIS.  All data used is based on publically available 
information.  The mapping of the data could allow it to be transferred into open-
access sources such as Google Maps for wider accessibility in the future. 

Next Steps

6 The mapping data is held within ARCGIS linked to the GIIP spreadsheet.  This 
can be viewed simply by a straightforward conversion to Google Maps which 
allows easy access for a wider audience/ the public.  

Page 60



7 Security, updating and access arrangements: At present the GIS points at the 
entire GIIP spreadsheet, with all of the GIIP data able to be read.  It remains an 
internal, password protected GIS layer.  The GIIP is updated following each 
GEGJC.  It is recommended that any additions to the GIIP continue to be made 
as at present, entered onto the GIIP spreadsheet.  New projects can then be 
mapped and the map updated to take account of the most up-to-date GIIP 
(quarterly).

8 Target audience: It is possible to allow full public access of the GIIP mapping.  
An initial trial for GEGJC Members of 6 months should allow any necessary 
changes and testing, and to ascertain if the mapping data is useful for the wider 
public.  It is therefore recommended that the further testing/refinement by the 
GEGJC Members (with training if required) follows from Oct 2017 – Mar 2018.  
Interested GEGJC members can decide if the map should be publicly available, 
or restricted for use.

9 Future Use: Following the briefing/demo to GEGJC, it is recommended that the 
SOG working further refine the scope of the mapping project, taking on board 
GEGJC comments.  This will develop a protocol agreement on data handling, 
updating, and timing.  

10 Recommendation: The GIIP Mapping will offer a 6 month limited access trial of 
the mapping tool for officers and members to run from October initially.  This will 
be reviewed in the second quarter of 2018 with decisions around how useful it is, 
it is and whether or not it should be made available for general release.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Funding Opportunities – DCLG/ HCA Housing Infrastructure 
Fund and HE Growth and Housing Fund

AGENDA NO: 10

Meeting Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Report author Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities & Infrastructure
nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Background 
documents

Various strategic planning documents apply, including Local Planning 
Authority Plans and the Local Transport Plan

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

Council websites

Main consultees N/A

Planned dates See paragraph 28
Purpose of report  To provide a progress update on bidding activity for the: (1) Housing 

Infrastructure Fund, sponsored by the Homes and Communities Agency; and,
(2) Growth and Housing Fund, sponsored by Highways England

Recommendations To note the report and endorse the schemes that are proposed for 
submission.

Reasons for 
recommendations

See paragraph 26

Resource 
Implications

None directly but note paragraphs 24 and 25.

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

mailto:nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk


INTRODUCTION
1. The Government has recently announced 2 calls for Infrastructure funding linked to housing delivery 
and economic growth:

 Housing Infrastructure Fund, sponsored by the Homes and Communities Agency; and,
 Growth and Housing Fund, sponsored by Highways England.

2. This report provides an overview of the 2 schemes and the various Gloucestershire bids being 
considered by the 7 Councils.

3. The aim is to provide a map for members at the meeting so that they can see the spatial distribution 
of the schemes that are being put forward as expressions of interest or bids. It is possible that some of 
the schemes listed in the report will not be submitted at this stage; the final position will be confirmed at 
the meeting.

HOUSING INFRATRUCTURE FUND (HIF)
4. The Government’s newly announced Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) is designed to deliver new 
physical infrastructure to support new and existing communities, and make more land available for 
housing in high demand areas, resulting in new additional homes that otherwise would not have been 
built.  One of the criteria to be met is that the funding must be spent by 2020/2021.  

5. There are 2 HIF pathways available:
 Marginal Viability – This is funding for the final, or missing, piece of infrastructure funding to 

get additional sites allocated or existing sites unblocked quickly.  Bids of up to £10M can be 
made and only District Councils can apply in two-tier areas; and,

 Forward Funding  - Government will provide the first amount of funding, which then gives the 
market confidence to provide further investment and make more land available for development 
and future homes. Bids up to £250M - only County Councils can apply in two-tier areas.

HIF - MARGINAL VIABILITY
6. At the current time the District Council’s are considering the following opportunities: 

 Cotswold - Chesterton Lane (strategic site) as a priority, and second priority Moreton in Marsh 
Railway Bridge.  

 Stroud – Brimscombe Port, Sharpness and Huntsgrove.
 Forest of Dean – Cinderford.
 Tewkesbury – Ashchurch (Junction 9), Twigworth, Healings Mill (listed building).
 Cheltenham – Portland Street housing site.
 Gloucester City – Blackfriars (Quayside Prison), Kings Quarter, Monks Meadow (accelerated 

delivery).

HIF: FORWARD FUNDING
7. Forward Funding bids will go through a 2 stage process with local authorities submitting an 
Expression of Interest by 28 September 2017 with the best of these going through to Stage 2.  In Stage 
2 business cases will be developed and submitted in Spring 2018.  Funding awards will be announced 
in summer 2018.

8. GCC will be submitting 2 Expressions of Interest (EOIs) – M5 J10 and M5 J9:

M5 Junction 10 package

9. A package of schemes that has been identified through the development of the JCS transport 
evidence base, comprising:

Page 64



 High capacity upgrade of M5 J10 junction providing an ‘All Movements’ junction including three 
lanes on slip roads and circulatory lanes on the roundabout

 M5 – main carriageway capacity improvements
 New 50 mph dual carriageway two‐lane link road, providing free‐flow access from A4019 / 

M5J10 to West of Cheltenham site only
 Major/Minor Priority Junction on new 50 mph dual carriageway two‐lane link road, with Minor 

junction arm for West of Cheltenham residential site access only.
 Expansion of existing Arle Court P&R parking facilities (100% Increase in Capacity), and new 

walking and cycling improvements to link P&R site with the new West of Cheltenham 
Employment site

10. Scheme cost is estimated at £100m. In addition Highways England has stated that a smart 
motorway upgrade will be required between junctions 9 and 11a which could increase the estimated 
cost by a further £100m.

M5 Junction 9 package

11. New dual carriageway bypass linking Teddington Hands roundabout with M5 Junction 9 and 
associated changes to junctions. 

12. Scheme cost estimates are approximately £70m (based on the historic 1993 route alignment).

13. It is important to recognise that it is unlikely to be possible for construction to be completed on 
either scheme by the Government’s deadline of 2020/2021.  The County Council has been advised to 
submit bids to continue to raise the profile of these schemes with the relevant Government bodies.

Out of County Schemes
14. The County Council is also working closely with South Gloucestershire Council and the West of 
England Combined Authority over J14 (Thornbury) of the M5, which is at capacity and hindering 
development in the locality.

GROWTH AND HOUSING FUND (GHF)
15. The second announcement concerned the Growth and Housing Fund (GHF), which was formally 
launched in autumn 2015 and resulted in an open call for bids in spring/summer 2016.  An initial 
pipeline of schemes was identified.

16. Government has opened a limited call for new bids into the fund.

17. Unlike the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) any GHF bid will be submitted by the GFirst LEP.

18. The primary purpose of the Growth and Housing Fund (GHF) is to enable the early and quick 
delivery of jobs and homes by supporting specific highways improvement schemes – at the best 
possible value for money.

19. For a scheme to be eligible under the fund it must also be demonstrated that the intervention would 
complement, and not be a replacement for other funds from private or public sources. 

20. Successful schemes are likely to be:

 At an advanced state of planning readiness
 Produce an early and substantial delivery of jobs
 Produce an early and substantial delivery of homes

Page 65



 Have match funding
 Have detailed design completed
 Provide additionality.

21. The closing date for bids is 8 September 2017, which although very close demonstrates the belief 
by Highways England that only ‘oven ready’ schemes should be submitted to the fund.

A Gloucestershire bid to the GHF

22. Very few schemes exist in the County that currently meet the Government’s criteria, with one 
exception: Gloucester Cross Keys Junction Improvement. This location on the A38, South of 
Gloucester, relates directly to Crest Nicholson’s delivery of the Hunts Grove community, a site for up to 
2,500 new dwellings and associated community infrastructure. The 7000+ jobs provided at Waterwells 
and Olympus Park Business Parks also use the junction when accessing the M5. The proposal will 
also address queuing on the M-5 at J12.

The Proposal
23 The proposed improvements to the junction will provide increased capacity at the roundabout by 
widening the circulatory and approaches, installing (partial) traffic signals on the A38 southbound and 
B4008 northbound, and providing additional enhancements for buses and cycling. The scheme will 
cost a total of £3.85m. Economic and strategic case work has been completed as part of a National 
Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) bid (June 2017). The overall BCR calculated for the scheme a 
value of 4.8, which corresponds to Very High Value for Money.

Options
24. The overall decision is whether to bid or not and then what schemes for what purpose. All 7 
Councils are preparing bids that fit with identified development pressures. Not to bid would potentially 
deprive the County of much needed infrastructure investment, reducing the number of houses that can 
be delivered and hindering economic growth.

Risk assessment  
25. Both Funds are competitive processes, which will invariably be over subscribed. So the main risk is 
in sinking resources into the development of expressions of interests and / or bids that may not be 
successful. By understanding the scheme criteria and co-operating the Councils are mitigating this risk 
as far as possible.

Officer advice
26. The advice is to note the report and to endorse the schemes that are proposed for submission at 
the meeting. The unanimous support of the 7 Councils, partners, including GFirst LEP and Highways 
England, and more generally MPs, is important in demonstrating to Government and its Agencies that 
Gloucestershire has a clear and consistent view on its development needs.

Equalities considerations
27. None directly and any schemes that are ultimately approved for funding will need to be planned 
and delivered in accordance with the relevant requirements at that time. As such no ‘due regard’ 
statement is required at this time.

Consultation feedback
28. All of the schemes have emerged from the Various Strategic Planning processes and have 
therefore been subject to extensive consultation.

Performance management/follow-up 
29. To submit the final bids in accordance with the required timescales.

Page 66



Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee - Forward Plan 2017/18

Meeting Date Subject Focus for Discussion Lead Amendments/Action 
Arising

 6th September Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny 
Committee (GEGSC)

GFirst LEP Update

Economic Intelligence 
Baseline

Gloucestershire Business 
Rate Pool

Strategic Planning 
Collaboration in 
Gloucestershire

Gloucestershire 
Infrastructure Investment 
Plan (GIIP)

Request that a GEGSC update 
report be included as a standing 
item on this Committee’s agendas.

To receive a report on the delivery 
of the Growth Programme in the 
County, including ESIF update and 
Growth Deal Fund reallocation 
process.

Review of CCN commission: 
Understanding County Economies

Consideration of expenditure 
options for the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund (SEDF)

To receive an update on proposals 
including governance and the 
Strategic Planning Coordinator 
role. 

GIIP update and demonstration of 
mapping tool and launch of access 
pilot

GCC

GFirst LEP

GCC

SDC/GCC

GEGJC Senior Officer 
Group (SOG)

GCC/District 
partners/LEP

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 11



Investment Funding 
Opportunities 

Consideration of planned 
submissions to DCLG Housing 
Infrastructure Fund (HIF) and 
Highways England Growth and 
Housing Fund (GHF) calls

GEGJC SOG

 29th November GFirst LEP Update

Economic Intelligence 
Baseline

Employment and Skills

Growth Delivery 
Monitoring

Gloucestershire Business 
Rates Pool

To receive an update report 
including Growth Deal Fund re-
allocation.

Presentation on INFORM data 
sharing platform and consideration 
of proposals to improve collation 
and utilisation of economic 
intelligence

Update on the activities of the new 
Gloucestershire Employment and 
Skills Board

Proposal to regularly review key 
growth elements of strategic and 
local plan delivery and major 
regeneration projects.

Consideration of joint Business 
Rates Pool arrangements for 
2018/19 and any associated 
funding proposals.

GFirst LEP

GCC

GCC/LEP

GEGJC SOG

SDC/GCC

P
age 70



Strategic Planning 
Collaboration in 
Gloucestershire

GIIP Update

Progress report in respect of the 
recruitment for the Strategic 
Planning Coordinator post and 
associated governance changes.

Update report as required.

GEGJC SOG

GEGJC/SOG

 14th March 
2018

Improving the 
Effectiveness of the Local 
Planning System in 
Gloucestershire

Industrial Strategy (IS)

GIIP

Review of intervention priorities 
outlined in the Devolution bid and 
as arising from discussions with 
partners, including the 
appointment of a Strategic 
Planning Commissioner

Planned approach for the 
preparation of a local Industrial 
Strategy   

End of year update and review of 
outcome of access pilot 

GEGJC SOG

LEP/all partners

GCC/GEGJC SOG

 20th June GFirst LEP Update

GIIP Update

To receive an update report

Update report as required

GFirst LEP

GEGJC SOG

 5th September GFirst LEP Update

GIIP Update

To receive an update report

Update report as required

GFirst LEP

GEGJC SOG

P
age 71



 21st November GFirst LEP Update

GIIP Update

To receive an update report

Update report as required

GFirst LEP

GEGJC SOG

P
age 72


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee
	5 GFirst LEP Update
	Appendix 1 Growth Deal Forward Look Rev8 Aug 2017
	Appendix 2 Summary Outputs Table Q1 17-18
	Appendix 3 Dashboard update Q1 17-18
	Appendix 4 Reallocation timetable REVISED 27.07.17
	Appendix 5 ESIF financial summary 09082017

	6 Economic Intelligence
	Understanding County Economies Summary Paper (GEGJC)

	8 Strategic Planning Collaboration in Gloucestershire
	9 Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Plan
	10 Funding Opportunities - DCLG/ HCA Housing Infrastructure Fund and HE Growth and Housing Fund
	11 Forward Plan - Future Work Programme

